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Div. I -  
Trade Unions
Michael Wheeler 
(USDAW)

Div.I –  
Trade Unions
Mick Whelan 
(ASLEF)

Div.I –  
Trade Unions
Jayne Taylor (Unite)

Div. II –  
Socialist Societies	 
James Asser

Div. III -  
CLP's
Ann Henderson

Div. III –  
CLPs
Claudia Webbe

Div. III –  
CLPs
Yasmin Dar

Div. III –  
CLPs
Jon Lansman

Div. III –  
CLPs
Navendu	 Mishra

Div. III – CLPs
Rachel Garnham

Div. III –  
CLPs
Huda Elmi

Div. III –  
CLPs
Darren Williams

Div. IV – Labour 
Councillors
Alice Perry

Div. IV – Labour 
Councillors
Nick Forbes

Div. V – PLP/EPLP
Margaret Beckett MP

Div. V – PLP/EPLP
Shabana Mahmood 
MP

Div. V – PLP/EPLP
George Howarth MP

Div.I –  
Trade Unions	
Cath Speight (GMB)
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NEC COMMITTEES

The NEC has established the following joint 
committee:

JOINT POLICY COMMITTEE (JPC)  
The JPC is responsible for strategic oversight 
of the party’s policy development. It oversees 
the rolling programme and acts as a steering 
group for the National Policy Forum (NPF). 
Jointly convened by the Leader and NEC  
Co-convenor, it is a joint committee made  
up of members of the NEC, Shadow Cabinet 
and NPF.

The NEC has established the following  
sub-committees

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
Responsible for the party’s risk register and 
policies to mitigate risks and scrutinises the 
audited accounts.

Business Board 
Oversight of the business functions of the 
organisation including the management of 
finances.

Equalities Committee 
Responsible for driving the party’s equality 
agenda and the development of an inclusive 
organisation at all levels.

Organisation Committee 
Responsible for party rules and constitution; 
ensures the party is operating effectively 
throughout the country and has overall 
responsibility for membership, selections, 
investigations, conferences, electoral law, 
boundaries strategy and internal elections.

Disputes Panel 
A panel of the NEC Organisation Committee 
which hears membership appeals; re-
admission applications; party disputes and 
conciliation; minor investigations and local 
government appeals where referred to the 
NEC. It operates in a quasi-judicial fashion, 
conducting hearings and interviews around  
the country where necessary.

Bursary Panel 
Considers applications for financial help from 
Parliamentary candidates from a working class 
or low income background or have additional 
costs due to disability.

Development Fund Panel 
Considers applications from CLPs for one off 
support or seed-money for innovative, outward 
looking initiatives.
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OBITUARIES

Terry Ainsworth

Keith Atkins 

David Bailey

Simon Banister

Richard Bates

Lord Kumar Bhattacharyya

Charles Boylan

Patricia Conaty

Annie Cooke

Tom Cox

Dave Crawley

George  Cunningham

Denzil Davies

Lord Garfield Davies

Gary Doolan

John Ellis

Michael English

Elizabeth Evans

John Gray

Baroness Marcia Falkender

Paul Flynn MP

Derek Foster

Cllr Nadine Fudge

Ian Greenwood

Betty Higgins

Baroness Patricia Hollis

Rianna  Humble

Jill Iremonger

Brian Jamieson

Bryan Jones

Baroness Betty Lockwood

Peter McClelland

Cllr Jim Murphy

John Ovenden

Bernard Pidcock

Alan Roach

Keith Rothwell

Pilmar Smith

Cllr Rob Smith

Deion Smith

Rodney Starmer

Gordon Tacey

John Turner

Ella Underwood

Brian Walden

Graeme Watkins

David Watts

Geoff Williams

Cllr Kevin Wilson

Kevin Wilson

Walter Wolfgang

Brenda Zaman

These are the names of members who have been remembered by and notified to the NEC 
throughout 2019. All members who have passed away this year will be remembered during a 
minute’s silence at this year’s Annual Conference
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NEC AIMS AND OBJECTIVES FOR 2019

The first objective of the NEC, General 
Secretary and party staff is to ensure we have 
a well-equipped, first class operation to put us 
in the best possible place to win elections and 
to deliver on the political strategy set out by 
our Leadership and Conference. 

We have continued to adhere to the NEC’s 
finance strategy first established in 2008 
and as a result. the party remains debt free. 
However, we must still be mindful of risks and 
maintaining financial discipline continues to be 
vital. 

The General Secretary has set out three key 
objectives:

	  �TO ORGANISE – developing community 
organising and campaigning at all levels of 
the party and embedding an organising 
culture.

	  �TO GROW – to drive membership forward 
as well as to retain existing members.

	  �TO WIN – to ensure we have the strategy 
and structures in place to win elections  
at local, national and UK-wide level, 
including a snap General Election  
should one be called.

The Labour Party rulebook states: “The primary 
purpose of the NEC shall be to provide a 
strategic direction for the party as a whole and 
to maintain and develop an active party in the 
country, working in partnership with the party’s 
representatives in Parliament, the European 
Parliament, devolved administrations and local 
government to secure the party’s objectives.”

To this end the NEC will continue to develop 
campaigning and organising to build a social 
movement that seeks to achieve real change 
and genuinely engages with communities to 
win elections in 2019, whether local, mayoral, 
PCC or by-elections, and to be ready for a 
General Election whenever it may be called.  
A movement, which works to empower people, 
to deliver change for themselves in their 
communities. 

Our overall focus and vision will always be to 
secure the election of a Labour Government 
with a transformative agenda to deliver the 
change so desperately needed to grow our 
economy, create secure jobs with well-defined 
rights for workers and trade unions and to 
provide appropriate care for all those in our 
society who need support.
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By-elections

PARLIAMENTARY BY-ELECTION
PETERBOROUGH

In Peterborough – our objective was simple; to 
fight the election on our terms. To do that, we 
needed to make our messages simple and local.

Prior to the short campaign, we spoke to over 
8,000 people and used the feedback from 
those intensive doorstep conversations to 
create our narrative for the campaign based 
on the issues that had been raised with us.

We refined our local messages. And highlighted 
the fact that our candidate, Lisa Forbes, was 
local and well known. We produced our printed 
materials, crafted our digital content and lined 
up visits to support our campaigning themes.

We picked three core issues. Firstly, we ran 
with crime. Highlighting local crime stories, 
police cuts and the human impact of crime 
on communities across Peterborough. This 
was delivered through a crime leaflet, a huge 
amount of digital work and a visit from Shadow 
Policing Minister, Louise Haigh. That week we 
secured three separate crime related stories in 
the local paper.

The second week was education. We had a 
visit from Angela Rayner to highlight the school 
cuts campaigns, figures that demonstrated 
that Peterborough schools had lost out on 
£22m of funding since 2015. We had a video of 
Lisa delivered through facebook outside local 
schools highlighting the cuts suffered by that 
school. We received excellent coverage in that 
week too.

Finally, before moving in to GOTV we 
highlighted Tory council neglect as our third 
issue. Peterborough is third worst in the 
country for fly-tipping and fourth for littering.

By the third week of the campaign, people 
were stopping Lisa in the street describing her 
as “that woman from Facebook”.

The theme was simple. This election is 
about so much more than Brexit, it’s about 
Peterborough.

We turned the 
Brexit Party in 
to our biggest 
strength. Using the 
threat of a Brexit 
win to drive up 
turnout amongst 
our voters and 
squeeze potential 
Lib Dem and 
Green voters.

Organisationally 
we were ruthless 
with our 
targeting. Hitting 
specific groups of voters with messaging we 
believed would be most effective.

Peterborough was a seat  Labour was written 
off in, largely because of an insurgent Brexit 
Party in a seat that voted 61% leave.

The lessons from the campaign are simple.

•	�Local issues matter – if you’re talking about 
issues that people have told you they care 
about, they’re much more likely to listen to 
what you have to say.

•	�Know where your vote is and having a 
strategy to get it out is critical.

•	�Running an integrated campaign is crucial. 
If you’re serving messages through a variety 
of different mediums, print, press, digital 
and face to face, it seeps in to the public 
consciousness much more effectively.

Finally, a good campaign takes time to build. 
The Tories and the Brexit Party flooded in to 
the seat after the EU elections and attempted 
to build a campaign from there. They did not 
have enough time, didn’t know where their 
vote was and had no idea how to 
get it out.

The result a resounding win 
for Labour.

DOES THIS SOUND LIKE A PARTY THAT’S SERIOUS ABOUT PETERBOROUGH?

TAKEN 21,000 POLICE OFF OUR STREETS
ROBBED PETERBOROUGH SCHOOLS OF £2MILLION IN FUNDING

ONE FINE ISSUED FOR  FLY-TIPPING IN 5 YEARS

12326_19 Prom
oted by Hollie Ridley on behalf of Lisa Forbes, both at 15 Church Walk, Peterborough, PE1 2TP. Printed by Euro Label Prin
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PARLIAMENTARY BY-ELECTION
NEWPORT WEST

We were deeply saddened by the passing  
of our friend and colleague Paul Flynn in 
February.  Paul represented Newport West  
for 32 years, and was a fantastic advocate  
for the constituency and its people.  

As he had previously announced his intention 
to stand down at the next General Election, 
by the time of his death and the subsequent 
moving of the writ, Ruth Jones had already 
been selected as the candidate for Newport 
West by the local party.

Born and bred locally on the Gaer, with two 
children who attended local schools, and thirty 
years’ experience in the NHS, Ruth’s strong 
Newport credentials and her compelling 
backstory as a campaigner and activist 
informed much of the campaign’s messaging.

Alongside Ruth’s biography, messaging 
focussed on crime and police cuts and 
universal credit and homelessness.  Given the 
number of smaller parties competing in the 
election, in the final weeks of the campaign we 
also drew heavily on the squeeze message of 
‘It’s Ruth or the Tories’.

Over the course of the campaign, we spoke  
to over 16,000 voters, with 7,000 Labour 
promises, and lifted the CLP contact rate  
to 55 per cent.  

Our most successful day in terms of 
mobilisation was the final Saturday of the 
campaign when Jeremy Corbyn visited,  
with over three hundred attendees at his 
speech, the vast majority of whom went  
out campaigning afterwards in both the 
morning and afternoon sessions.

Our social media campaign was also  
extremely successful, with 1,500,000  
Twitter impressions and 743,774  
impressions on Facebook.  Alongside  
the statistics, we were pleased to see  
so much anecdotal evidence of the  
success of the campaign, with voters  

we spoke to on the doorstep often 
commenting on how they had seen Ruth 
online or knew her backstory from videos on 
Facebook.

MPs, AMs and Councillors from across Wales 
and beyond lent their time and support during 
the campaign, with Nick Thomas-Symonds and 
Jessica Morden acting as Political Lead and 
Candidate’s Aide respectively throughout, and 
Jayne Bryant AM liaising on behalf of the Welsh 
Labour Government in Cardiff.

Thanks to the hard work of staff, members and 
elected representatives, we retained the seat 
with a 39.6 per cent share of the vote and a 
majority of 1,951.

ABOUT ME
I’m Newport born and bred. I attended Duffryn 
Comprehensive School before training to be  
a physiotherapist. I now live in Allt-yr-yn with  
my husband.
I worked in the NHS for over thirty years and  
I’m a governor at the primary school that my 
children attended.In my free time I sing in a choir and volunteer  

at a local Night Shelter scheme.

FIGHTING TORY POLICE CUTSCrime is rising and it’s clear why. The Tories have slashed our local police budgets by nearly £30million. 
I will fight for more police on the beat 
and a serious effort across the city to tackle the root 
causes of crime.

SUPPORTING A NEW M4 RELIEF ROAD I support a new M4 relief road, combined with an improved public transport network to ease the flow of traffic in and around Newport. We’ve 
had enough talking on this – now we need action.

TACKLING  UNIVERSAL CREDITUniversal Credit has driven hardworking people into poverty and pushed people out of their homes and onto the streets. I support 
an overhaul of the system that acts as a safety net  
and puts people first.

SEEKING JUSTICE  FOR 1950s WOMENBotched changes to the state pension age for women born in the 
1950s have left many out of pocket.  
I will speak up for 1950s women and 
fight on in Parliament until they get a fair deal.

STANDING UP FOR NEWPORT WESTI’m proud of our city and of our people. That’s why 
in this election I want to talk about the things that 
matter to you.
On the doorstep, I’ve heard your concerns about 
rising crime and police cuts; the impact of Tory 
welfare reforms; and your calls for more 
investment and support to help our city grow.
This by-election is our chance to tell the Tories in 
Westminster that we will not accept or endorse 
their cuts that continue to stretch our public 
services and push people into poverty.I am determined to stand up for the people, the 

jobs and the economy of Newport West. I hope  
I will have your support.

Your Welsh Labour Candidate for Newport West

VOTE  LABOUR THURSDAY4 APRIL
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ELECTIONS 2019  
ANALYSIS

LOCAL ELECTIONS 2019

The 2019 local elections were for a total of 8,425 council seats across 248 local authorities and five 
directly elected mayoral positions as well as the new post of North of Tyne Combined Authority 
Mayor.

Labour deployed and tested a range of new technologies for our activists in these elections, including 
a successful “Boardrunner” extension to our existing Doorstep App for Voter ID work.  This allows 
the already popular Doorstep App to be used by a team run from a single tablet computer, in the 
same way as with a clipboard.  The elections also provided an opportunity for us to begin testing our 
new Telling App, allowing the transfer of information from tellers at the polling station to campaign 
organisers in the committee room running an electronic polling day operation to be near-instant.

Most of the council seats contested this year were previously elected in 2015 on the same day as the 
General Election, although local government re-structuring and new warding arrangements meant 
that in many areas the results could not be compared directly with those four years ago.

The BBC’s Projected National Share of the Vote (with previous years shown for comparison) 
was:

 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Lab 28% 35% 27% 31% 29%

Con 28% 35% 38% 30% 35%

LD 19% 16% 18% 15% 11%

UKIP n/a n/a 5% 12% 13%

The numbers of seats won were:

 Lab LD Con Ind UKIP Grn Total
Seats Won 2,019  1,356  3,566  1,188 31  265 8,425

Actual Changes – unchanged wards -37 458 -867 435 -109 120

Net changes with notional result in  
New Wards Councils

-45 255 -479 232 -17 54

Total -82 713 -1,346 667 -126 174
 
Labour had a net loss of five councils (five gained, ten lost) 
The five councils Labour gained were: Amber Valley, Calderdale, Gravesham, High Peak, Trafford.

The Conservatives had a net loss of 46 councils (three gained, 49 lost)

The Liberal Democrats gained a majority in 11 councils.

The results of the mayoral elections were:

Bedford LD held Mansfield Lab gain from Ind

Copeland Ind held Middlesbrough Ind gain from Lab

Leicester Lab held North of Tyne Lab win

EUROPEAN ELECTION RESULTS  2019

Labour lost 10 MEPs in the 2019 European Elections.  The tables below show the change in votes 
and seats between 2014 and 2019, and the number of council areas in each region where each 
party came top.
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Votes

Party Votes Share 2014 Votes 2014 Share Change
Brexit 5,248,533 31.60%

Lib Dem 3,367,284 20.30% 1,086,240 6.90% 13.30%

Labour 2,347,255 14.10% 4,017,246 25.40% -11.30%

Green 2,010,909 12.10% 1,243,298 7.90% 4.20%

Conservative 1,511,485 9.10% 3,783,842 23.90% -14.90%

SNP 594,553 3.60% 389,503 2.50% 1.10%

Change UK 571,846 3.40%

UKIP 549,348 3.30% 4,346,004 27.50% -24.20%

PC 163,928 1.00% 111,864 0.70% 0.30%

Yorkshire 50,842 0.30%

English Democrats 39,938 0.20% 126,024 0.80% -0.60%

UK European Union 33,576 0.20%

Animal Welfare 25,232 0.20% 21,092 0.10% 0.10%

Women’s Equality 23,766 0.10%

Independence Network 7,641 0.00%

Socialist Party of Great Britain 3,505 0.00% 6,838 0.00% =

Independents 77,613 0.50%

Others 679,794 4.30%

Total Votes 16,627,254 15,828,254

Turnout 37% 36%

Seats

Seats Won Change from 2014
Region/
Country

Lab LD Con SNP PC Grn Brexit Lab LD Con SNP PC Grn Brexit UKIP

Eastern - 2 1 1 3 -1 2 -2 1 3 -3
E. Mids 1 1 - - 3 1 -2 3 -2
Greater 
London

2 3 - 1 2 -2 3 -2 2 -1

N. East 1  -    -   -    2  -1         2 -1
N. West 2  2  -   1  3 -1 2  -2   1 3 -3
Scot -    1  1 3 -    1  -2   +1 1    1 -1
S. East 1  3  1 1  4 2 -2 4 -4
S. West -    2  -   1  3 -1    +2 -2   3 -2
Wales 1  -    -   1 -    2     -1      2 -1
W. Mids 1 1  1 1  3  -1  +1  -1 1 3 -3
Yorks 
& The 
Humber

1  1  -   1  3  -1 1 -1   1 3 -3

Total 10 16 4 3 1 7 29 -10 15 -15 1 = 4 29 -24
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Councils						    

Councils Won
Region/Country Lab LD SNP PC Grn Brexit Total
Eastern 1 5 - - 1 38 45
East Midlands 2 1 - - - 37 40
Greater London 13 16 - - - 4 33
North East - - - - - 12 12
North West 6 3 - - - 30 39
Scotland - 2 30 - - 32
South East 1 13 - - 1 52 67
South West - 3 - - 1 27 31
Wales - - 3 - 19 22
West Midlands 1 1 - - - 28 30
Yorkshire and  
The Humber

- 1 - - - 20 21

Total 24 45 30 3 3 267 372

ELECTIONS 2020

Next year’s local elections are due to be held in 115 councils in England and will elect approximately 
2,500 councillors.

In addition there are elections for the Greater London Authority (Mayor and Assembly),  
Metro-Mayors in Greater Manchester, Liverpool City Region, Tees Valley and West Midlands  
as well as three city mayoral positions.

Also being elected are 40 Police and Crime Commissioners in England and Wales. 

There are no scheduled elections in Scotland until 2021.
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT REPORT

The Association of Labour Councillors (ALC) 
continues to be the voice for councillors  
within the party, ensuring councillors receive 
the support and training they need to fulfil 
their roles. 

We held our first training session with Mental 
Health First Aid England (MHFA) on awareness 
at the start of August for 25 councillors from 
Labour Groups across the North West. The 
report of this is on our website and we will be 
looking to do more of these over the coming 
year. This has been the result of feedback from 
councillors to the ALC so do get in touch with 
your regional representatives. 

LOCAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN 2019 
Once again, representatives from the LGA 
Labour Group and the ALC held a series of 
meetings in the run up to the local elections 
with senior campaign staff, ensuring Local 
Government representatives were able  
to feed directly into the campaign planning.  
A review of the Local Election results has  
been communicated to key stakeholders  
and Andrew Gwynne held briefings both  
with council leaders and the ALC Executive  
at their meeting in July. 

LEADERSHIP AT THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ASSOCIATION  
Nick Forbes, Leader of Newcastle City Council, 
was officially re-elected as Leader of the LGA 
Labour Group in the LGA at their conference 
in Bournemouth. Anntionette Bramble, Deputy 
Mayor of Hackney and Michael Payne, Deputy 
Leader of Gedling Borough Council were also 
elected as Deputy Leaders. 

The LGA Labour Group ran a very successful 
‘Breaking Point’ campaign, with over 5,000 
Labour councillors signing a petition that 
was delivered directly to Downing Street, 
the largest petition of its kind. The campaign 
highlighted the funding crisis that is engulfing 
councils after almost a decade of Tory cuts, 
calling for a real end to Tory austerity.

LABOUR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
CONFERENCE 
Taking place in the West Midlands, the ALC/
LGA held their annual Local Government 
conference in February. Many thanks to our 
guest speakers, which included a keynote 
address by Jeremy Corbyn, and contributions 
from Andrew Gwynne, Dawn Butler, Angela 
Rayner and Tom Watson. New councillors 
continue to be eligible to attend for free and 
the programme was supplemented by a range 
of plenary and breakout sessions on issues 
including women & equalities, education and 
council funding. 

COUNCILLOR TRAINING 
The LGA Labour Group continues to put on 
their ‘Be a Councillor’ sessions at conferences 
and regional events across the country, 
encouraging Labour Party members to stand 
for election. Future sessions will be advertised 
through regional offices and conference 
literature so do sign up to one. 

In June, the ALC/LGA held our first dedicated 
opposition training day in Birmingham. The 
day was a fantastic opportunity for the 120 
attendees to share best practice and receive 
key training from peers, party staff and 
councillors with a wealth of Local Government 
experience. We will look to develop our 
training resources for opposition groups  
in the coming year.

Many congratulations to those who were re-
elected or elected for the first time at the local 
elections in May. It is always sad to lose good 
colleagues, so we would also like to put on 
record our thanks to those who lost their seats 
or stood for us this year, for their hard work 
and service to the party, and to Labour in Local 
Government. 

Nick Forbes,  
Leader of the LGA Labour Group

Simon Henig,  
Chair of the ALC Executive



24 Labour Party Annual Report 2019

Elections 2019



 

LOOKING 
AHEAD: 
2020 ELECTIONS

Looking ahead

25Labour Party Annual Report 2019



26 Labour Party Annual Report 2019

Looking ahead

LOOKING AHEAD:
THE YEAR AHEAD IN SCOTLAND 

Under Richard Leonard’s leadership, Scottish 
Labour is continuing to show we are the party 
of radical change in Scotland. At Scottish 
Labour Conference earlier this year, we put 
forward a positive policy platform, which 
offered people hope and an alternative vision 
of a sustainable economy that works for the 
many, not the few.  Our key policy pledge to 
extend free bus travel, and build a free bus 
network for the whole of Scotland, has proved 
popular in communities and on the doorsteps.

Following what was an extremely disappointing 
European election result in Scotland, Richard 
Leonard has clearly reaffirmed Scottish Labour’s 
position of remain and reform of both the UK 
and Europe. Scottish Labour is not the party of 
the status quo. Richard has set up a working 
group exploring Scotland’s options for change, 
including more devolution for Scotland and 
a radical redistribution of wealth and power 
across the UK. An interim report on the group’s 
findings will be published later in the year.

Candidate selections are underway for 
priority Scottish Parliament constituencies to 
ensure that we are ready to fight the Scottish 
Parliament elections in 2021, and maintain 
our commitment to at least 50% female 
candidates. Scottish Labour will be focussed 
on preparing CLPs and candidates, and 
building strong self-sufficient campaign teams 
who will deliver Labour’s message online and 
onto the doorsteps across Scotland.

In order to ensure that Scottish Labour 
represents the communities we seek to serve, 
we have launched a Candidate Diversity 
Programme to increase the number of 
candidates coming forward for selection, at all 
levels, from underrepresented communities. 
We are holding a number of outreach events 
over the coming months with a particular focus 
on encouraging members from BAME, LGBT+ 
and disabled communities.

The General Election in 2017 demonstrated that 
strong local candidates can achieve electoral 
success in Scotland. It is vital that we continue 

to invest in, and focus on, identifying, recruiting 
and developing future candidates to build a new 
generation of talent for Scottish Labour. Our 
highly successful Gordon Aikman Leadership 
Programme, which provides high level training 
to potential future candidates, is in its third year 
and focuses on celebrating the distinctiveness 
of our movement by encouraging applications 
from women members and candidates 
from underrepresented, culturally diverse 
communities.  Participants receive training from 
some of Labour’s most talented individuals, 
with a focus on developing public speaking 
skills, media and communications, community 
organising, campaigning and leadership.

Scottish Labour’s newly established Local 
Government Conference was held for the 
first time in November 2018, with the next 
due to take place in November 2019, bringing 
together trade unions, councillors, party 
members and third sector organisations to 
develop an alternative vision for the funding 
of our lifeline local services and investment 
in local communities. In Scotland, too many 
of our public services, from education to 
transport, housing to healthcare, are struggling 
due to under-investment, with the SNP simply 
passing on Tory austerity.

In 2018, Scottish Labour also held its first 
Women’s Conference with policy-making 
powers and direct elections to the Scottish 
Executive Committee. The conference was 
brimming with enthusiasm, passion and ideas. 
Now in its second year, we are looking to build 
on this success with more women delegates 
from CLPs across the country and more 
motions on how Scottish Labour can improve 
the lives of women in Scotland.

Going into 2020 and beyond, the dividing line 
in Scotland is now between Labour’s plan to 
invest and build an economy that works for the 
many, not the few, or further austerity with the 
SNP and the Tories. This is the clear message 
Scottish Labour will continue to drive forward.
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LOOKING AHEAD: 2020 ELECTIONS
THE YEAR AHEAD IN WALES

The focus in Welsh Labour in July will be on 
Brecon and Radnorshire, where a by-election 
will take place on 1 August.

Over the course of 2019/2020, Welsh Labour 
will complete reselection processes for Welsh 
Assembly list candidates, as well as selecting 
candidates in vacant and non-Welsh Labour 
held seats. That process will begin this autumn 
in Bridgend and the Rhondda, which have 
been designated as priorities by the Welsh 
Executive Committee.  

We will also complete selections for  
non-Welsh Labour held Parliamentary  
seats, with selection processes in 
Montgomeryshire, Monmouthshire,  
and Ceredigion beginning shortly.

Work is continuing on the Welsh Democracy 
Review, with a final report due to go to Welsh 
Labour Conference in 2020, and Lord Murphy 
is continuing to meet with members and 
stakeholders over the course of the year.

November 2019 will see our Women’s 
Conference take place, and, following 
submissions to the first stage of the 
Democracy Review, for the first time in  
some years it will include a session in which 
motions will be debated and delegates will 
vote. The Conference will still be open to all 
women members, with the usual programme 
of speakers and workshops running alongside 
debates.

The next year will see increased activity 
throughout the Welsh Labour policy process 
as we develop a manifesto to put to voters in 
the 2021 Assembly Election.

Welsh Labour will also be focussed on 
preparing CLPs and candidates for a General 
Election whenever it comes, and the next 
Assembly elections in 2021, with a range of 
training and campaign materials to help take 
our message out to communities across Wales.
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MEMBERS AND SUPPORTERS  
RENEWING OUR PARTY AND BUILDING AN 
ACTIVE MEMBERSHIP AND SUPPORTERS NETWORK 

Halfway through the election cycle and 
with Brexit looming large in the public 
consciousness, we’re working hard to further 
expand the membership, retain those 
who have already joined and empower all 
members with the tools to win elections and 
transform society. 

A year after the launch of Organise, the 
tool is the primary way for members to 
mobilise volunteers, with over 26,000 
active users in the last 12 months. Chatter 
remains a powerful SMS mobilisation tool, 
particularly crucial in the Newport West and 
Peterborough by-elections this year, with over 
200,000 texts sent in the last 12 months. The 
distributed phonebank system Dialogue was 
particularly effective in supporting our victory 
in Peterborough, with thousands of activists 
across the country using the tool to speak to 
voters. This is just the start of big things to 
come. 

Already this year we’ve responded to 11,130 
inbound calls and 592,037 emails, a big 
increase of 8.6 times and 3.5 times on 2018 
respectively. This two-way dialogue with 
members is crucial for ensuring that our 
members are heard within our party.  

Labour is a party for the many, funded by 
the many. We are on track to raise half a 
million pounds by the end of the year, with an 
average donation of £13.29. Engagement with 
our communications has also rocketed, with 
83% of our list having taken action in the last 
6 months. 

With the restructuring of our membership 
and mobilisation functions and the recent 
recruitment of a new Director of Member 
Mobilisation and Activism, expect to see a 
step change in our approach in the coming 
year. We’ll be redoubling our efforts to put 
member engagement, political education and 
activism at the centre of Labour’s plan to win.
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MEMBERS AND SUPPORTERS  
EQUALITIES

EQUALITIES: WINNING WITH WOMEN

Following last year’s policy making Women’s 
Conference, this year’s Conference was held 
as a standalone two day event in February. 
Delegates debated a total of eight motions with 
two of those motions selected to go forward 
to Annual Conference 2019. Both conferences 
have played a significant role in enabling our 
women members to have greater participation 
in policy making and provided an opportunity 
to share ideas with members and politicians 
from across the UK and internationally. 

2018 also saw the continuation of Labour 
Party events and #thenextstep campaign to 
mark the centenary of some women getting 
the vote. Many CLPs organised campaign 
sessions, stalls and social events while the 
national Women’s Gala raised funds to support 
female candidates in early selection seats.  The 
Women’s Afternoon Tea held with Unison was 
a fun event for members and supporters to 
celebrate Labour’s achievements for women. 
Throughout the year, the Shadow Women 
and Equalities team worked closely with 
the Centenary Action Group, to campaign 
for women’s greater participation and 
representation in politics.  

The Jo Cox Women in Leadership Programme 
has successfully completed another cycle.
There were 56 new trainees on this round.  
The programme was very successful 
with positive feedback. The next round 
of applications will reopen after Annual 
Conference.

EQUALITIES: BAME 

BAME Labour and Labour’s Friends groups 
played a key role during the local and 
European elections by engaging and  
mobilising BAME communities and 
campaigning across Britain.

Labour Friends groups such as Labour Friends 
of India have re-established, in addition 
various groups have organised receptions to 
celebrate religious events which reached out 
to community groups from outside the Labour 
Party.

Shadow Women and Equalities Minister, 
Dawn Butler hosted the annual Black History 
Month reception in Parliament. Speakers 
included Jeremy Corbyn as well as key equality 
activists in the BAME community. It provided 
an opportunity for members to celebrate the 
achievements of black people in the UK and 
also to hear about Labour’s plans to support 
a new Emancipation Educational Trust, aimed 
at educating future generations about slavery 
and the struggle for emancipation.

The Bernie Grant Leadership programme 
launched in April 2019 to address the under-
representation of BAME members as elected 
Labour politicians and in other leadership 
positions. The training programme started in 
June with 51 trainees and will continue until 
September. Following the completion of the 
programme the party will carry out a review 
and the feedback will be used to inform future 
programmes. 
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EQUALITIES: DISABILITY LABOUR  

Disability Labour have had a productive year. 
They elected a new executive committee and 
set up the first ever Disability Hub at Annual 
Conference 2018 to support many disabled 
delegates. 

Disability Labour has continued to work with 
the party on accessibility issues with several 
campaigns being held to increase awareness 
of this improving the lives of disabled people 
and tackling discrimination. Notable campaigns 
have included -protecting the Welsh 
government’s independent living grant, the 
‘Keep the Guard on the Train’ campaign and 
parity in law for victims of Disability Hate Crime.

Disability Labour has also been part of a group 
led by Shadow Chancellor John McDonnell MP 
to examine the tragic and preventable deaths 
of those denied ESA (Employment and Support 
Allowance) because of the flawed WCA (Work 
Capacity Assessment. 

EQUALITIES: LGBT+ 

Labour continued to campaign for the 
introduction of compulsory LGBT+ inclusive 
relationships and sex education and ensured 
Parliament passed legislation for this to be 
introduced from 2020. 

LGBT+ Labour played a key role as part of the 
campaign. In response to the backlash from 
groups across the UK they created a guide for 
local councilors on how to advocate for LGBT+ 
inclusive Relationships Education.

LGBT+ officers now have more powers within 
local Labour Party structures and LGBT+ 
Labour has provided further support and 
guidance with a newly published handbook. 

This year has also seen a strong campaign 
focus on international LGBT+ rights. Shadow 
Women and Equalities Minister, Dawn Butler, 
Shadow Foreign Secretary, Emily Thornberry 
and LGBT+ Labour strongly condemned 
Brunei’s anti-gay laws which included the 
death penalty. They took part in mass protests 
outside the Brunei-owned Dorchester hotel 
in London and with mounting global pressure 
Brunei overturned the death penalty law.  
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EQUALITIES: LABOUR STUDENTS  

Over the last year Labour Students has run a 
range of campaigns and supported students 
across the country on their campuses and in 
wider communities. Their priority campaign 
focused on workers’ rights after Brexit. They 
provided resources for Labour clubs to raise 
awareness and pass motions on this issue 
within their student unions.

Labour Students also continued to build on 
their voter registration drive, sending out 
materials for students to use in encouraging 
their peers to register. This was particularly 
important with the Local and European 
elections, where Labour Students mobilised 
students in support of our fantastic candidates 
across the country. They ran national 
campaign days every week in the build-up 
to polling day, working with Labour clubs to 
maximise turnout in key seats and support 
candidates standing in marginal areas.

EQUALITIES: YOUNG LABOUR 

Young Labour had a good start to the year. 
The Young Labour National Committee met 
in March and in June to set priorities, discuss 
events and key matters concerning the 
committee. 

In May, young members, young trade 
unionists, students and affiliates came 
together with Jeremy Corbyn for Young Labour 
Political School in Birmingham. Over a 100 
young people attended for a day packed 
with educational workshops and speeches. 
Jeremy Corbyn started off the day with a policy 
announcement concerning young people and 
the minimum wage. 

Young members were successfully mobilised 
to go out campaigning in recent elections, 
particularly the successful by election in 
Peterborough. Young Labour has also seen an 
increase in Young Labour groups and with a 
recently appointed Youth Officer the party will 
continue to engage and provide guidance and 
support to young members nationally.
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NATIONAL POLICY FORUM
NPF REPORT

The National Policy Forum (NPF) has had 
another activity-packed year, engaging with 
more members, supporters and external 
stakeholders than ever before through our 
evidence-taking sessions and consultation 
events. Activity was also reinforced by 
providing more activity online through  
our website Labour Policy Forum, Twitter  
@labpolicyforum and through webinars  
with the Training team and senior  
Labour politicians. 

The formal business at National Women’s 
Conference in September 2018 was based on 
policy debates on four key areas as chosen by 
CLPs and affiliates through a ballot over the 
summer.  The top two topics as chosen by 
CLPs and the top two as chosen by affiliates 
went forward to be composited and then 
debated on Conference floor. The topics 
chosen were: Abortion Rights, Childcare, 
Women and the Economy and Women’s 
Health and Safety. Reports of these debates 
fed back into the NPF process.

Annual Conference was presented with the 
NPF report, detailing the work of the NPF 
policy commissions over the year. The reports 
formed the basis of debates on the floor,  
and in nine policy seminars, which together 
allowed delegates an opportunity to discuss 
and reflect on key policy issues. The Reference 
Back mechanism adopted at last year’s 
conference was used eleven times at this 
conference, with ten motions to reference 
back accepted and one rejected.

Following Conference, the NEC tasked the NPF 
to consult with Labour members, affiliates and 
stakeholders on eight areas of policy, with an 
increased focus on participation from CLPs. 
This year there is a particular focus on working 
closely with several branches of the party, 
including: newly elected CLP Policy Officers 
established through the Democracy Review; 
the Labour Training team; regional Labour 

teams; and Community Organising teams to 
increase engagement with and submissions 
from local party discussions from across  
the country.  Alongside there was an increase 
in online activity promoting engagement 
through social media, online videos and 
training material, including on Labour’s new 
Achieve platform. 

This programme of consultation continues the 
work to build on the popular 2017 manifesto 
so we are ready for government whenever 
the election comes. As part of this work each 
commission was tasked with producing a 
consultation document taking an area of 
Labour policy to look at in further detail. The 
policy commissions then set a programme of 
meetings over the next year to take evidence.

The consultation topics were:

	 •	�Local accountability within the  
National Education Service

	 •	�Democratic public ownership
	 •	�A sustainable food policy 
	 •	�Rebuilding a public NHS
	 •	�Local economic development
	 •	�Brexit
	 •	�Building an effective criminal  

justice system
	 •	�Rebuilding a just social security system

After elections over the summer for Divisions I 
(CLPs), IV (Local Government), and XII (Labour 
International) of the NPF and at Annual 
Conference for Divisions II (Trade Unions) 
and V (Socialist Societies) a process was 
implemented by the Policy Development Team 
to ensure that NPF Representatives could sit 
on their preferred policy commissions. Newly 
elected representatives were welcomed at the 
first meetings in January.

February 2019 saw the party’s first stand-alone 
Women’s Conference in almost 20 years, and 
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the first with policy-making powers, being held 
in Telford. CLP and Trade Union delegates 
took part in an online ballot to select which 
topics would be composited and debated 
over the weekend. Eight topics were chosen 
through the ballot, four from CLPs and four 
from affiliates. In addition, after the weekend’s 
debates a vote was held by section to decide 
which two of these composites would go on 
to be debated at Annual Conference 2019.  
The topics successful in the ballot were 
Rights for Migrant Women and Universal 
Credit & Employment Support. During the 
two days there were also opportunities for 
delegates and member visitors to speak to 
with Labour’s Policy Team and National Policy 
Forum Representatives attending about 
the consultation, as well as issues such as 
organising policy discussion events in their 
local areas. 

The NPF Consultation was formally launched 
with an email from Jeremy Corbyn MP to all 
members in late February. Consultation packs 
were sent to all CLP secretaries, which included 
a suite of materials including the eight policy 
documents and a guide to getting involved and 
hosting meetings locally. Although European 
Elections meant that a lot of activity planned 
for after the Local Elections campaign in May 
had to be cancelled or postponed, hundreds 
of discussions were still held by local branches, 
CLPs and regions to discuss the documents 
and policy ideas. 

The Policy Development team also worked 
closely with the Business Relations team to get 
evidence from organisations with experience 
in these fields.  Consultation events were held 
with stakeholders on skills at the University 
of Westminster; the future of food with the 
National Farmers’ Union; at the Science and 
Industry Museum in Manchester to talk about 
local economic development and Sir Keir 
Starmer QC MP hosted an online webinar to 
talk about Brexit with over 80 organisations. 

From January to June the eight policy 
commissions met and held evidence-taking 
sessions, to hear from invited experts in the 
field and examine submissions coming in 
from members, CLPs, external organisations 
and business, as well as people attending 
consultation events across the country. Once 
the consultation had closed on 30 June the 
commissions met to consider submissions and 
update the consultation documents to reflect 
what had been heard from the consultation. 
These documents can be found in the NPF 
Annual Report to Conference 2019. We would 
like to take this opportunity to thank everyone 
who got involved in this year’s consultation.

To read more about this year’s work please see 
the NPF Annual Report to Conference 2019.
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INTERNATIONAL
INTERNATIONAL WORK 
WESTMINSTER FOUNDATION FOR DEMOCRACY 

The Labour Party has continued to strengthen 
its relationships with sister parties to support 
the Labour Party’s broader objectives and to 
maximise the effectiveness and impact of  
the Opposition.

Labour’s frontbench team has benefited from 
dialogue with key sister party counterparts 
on issues including Brexit, foreign affairs, 
education, equalities, employment and 
environmental policy. Frontbench visits were 
also facilitated to Spain, Portugal, Sweden, 
Ireland, Latvia and the Netherlands. 

Discussions with sister parties on party 
organisation, election strategy and campaigns 
continue to inform parties and election 
campaigns around the world. Discussions over 
the last year have taken place with senior party 
staff and politicians from France, Australia, 
Germany, Denmark, Finland, Spain, Norway 
and Sweden among others. 

Labour also took an active role during the 
European elections, assisting in running  
the PES training academy with a number 
of Labour Party staff and politicians leading 
workshops for activists across Europe and 
running best practice social media training  
with key sister parties. 

The Labour Party’s Westminster Foundation 
for Democracy programme continued to focus 
on the needs of sister parties by fostering 
dialogue between parties, with civil society,  
on human rights and equalities linking into our 
work with women, youth and LGBT+ networks.  

Special emphasis was placed on tackling 
violence against women, working through 
regional networks and seeking a cross  
party platform to address this issue.  
We also encouraged links between  
LGBT+ organisations and sister parties, 
working across borders by bringing in  
regional best practise. Our bi-lateral 
programmes, including inclusive  
policy-making based on grassroots 

consultation, campaigning,  
communications and training of election 
monitors complemented the regional work. 
Throughout youth have played a central role 
in programme delivery. We encouraged our 
young alumni, especially from Eastern Europe 
and the Middle East and North Africa region  
to lead on trainings for young activists within 
their regions.  
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EUROPE
EUROPEAN PARLIAMENTARY LABOUR PARTY REPORT 

During a year in which Europe and Brexit have 
dominated the British political agenda,  
Labour’s MEPs have continued to get on with 
the job of representing their constituents, 
working with our Socialist colleagues across 
Europe to speak up for Labour values inside 
the EU decision making process. 

We were devastated to lose several hard-
working Labour MEPs in the European 
election. I would like to pay tribute to these 
colleagues, who put in so much effort over the 
years and thank them for all they have done 
for Labour, Britain, and Europe. 

We must now look to our future work. 
Whatever happens on Brexit, for so long as 
Britain remains a member of the EU, your 
Labour MEPs will fight to deliver Labour’s 
radical agenda through the  
EU institutions. 

Though the Labour MEPs are fewer in number, 
our determination is undimmed and we 
continue to be part of one of the biggest 
groups in the European Parliament, sitting 
side-by-side with colleagues who share our 
progressive agenda. Just as we have used 
our collective strength to deliver better EU 
legislation over the last five-year term, we 
will continue to work to advocate and deliver 
policies that will benefit working people. We will 
push for stronger workers’ rights and high pan-
European standards that put people before 
profits. We will fight for action to address the 
climate emergency and continue to expose 
and tackle tax avoidance.

As we face the prospect of a Tory prime 
minister more right-wing than Theresa May 
and more reckless than David Cameron, and 
with the threat of Brexit catastrophe hanging 
over Britain, Labour MEPs will also keep up 
our fight against the right-wing and extremist 
forces that have been the driving political force 
behind Brexit.

And we give full backing to what Jeremy Corbyn 
said to fellow socialist leaders in Europe, that 
any Brexit deal “must now go back to the 
British people for a vote with an option to 
remain in the EU”.  Brexit is turning out to be 
so different from the promises made by the 
Leave campaign and by Tory ministers that is 
right go back to the people for a final say.

We are an outward looking and internationalist 
party, a party that believes in the principle that 
we achieve more by acting collectively than 
we do when acting alone. As such, we should 
be proud of all we have achieved as part of 
a European Union that has delivered peace 
and prosperity to our continent and stronger 
rights and standards at home. It is vital Labour 
fights the forces who aim to undermine the 
progress we have made and ensures that 
future generations continue to benefit from 
the advantages we have won.

Richard Corbett MEP 
EPLP leader
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS  
WITHIN THE PARTY
HUMAN RESOURCES REPORT  

Following a successful year focussing on 
equality and diversity across our workforce, 
we were proud to be able to share the results 
of our Gender Pay report which indicated 
that we had a negative gender pay gap of 
-3.02%, meaning on average women are paid 
more than men within the organisation. This 
has changed from a mean gender pay gap 
of 2.45% in 2017. We have taken significant 
steps and continue to take action to tackle the 
gender pay gap, including initiatives such as 
a female development programme, internal 
networks and an active promotion of flexible 
working policies and recruitment practices.

Our work on diversity and inclusion has 
been recognised as we have successfully 
maintained our status as a Stonewall Diversity 
Champion and a Disability Confident employer, 
which underlines our commitment to equal 
opportunities, both within our workplace and 
in wider society. Using our staff networks 
we will seek feedback from our people 
on what has worked well and what more 
we can do. In 2018, the Labour Party has 
maintained and exceeded the requirements 
of our accreditation for being a Living Wage 
employer and are looking at other ways we 
can set a high standard through other external 
endorsements and by building on the training 
undertaken for Mental Health First Aiders.

Looking forward, there will be a focus over 
the next year on how we can support greater 
career development internally and how we can 
practically provide an exciting and inclusive 
working environment for our employees.
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS  
WITHIN THE PARTY
FINANCE

2018 was the first period in years without a 
major election or referendum. However, the 
political turmoil triggered by the Tories attempt 
to govern without a majority and the shambolic 
Brexit negotiations required that we remained 
election ready. The financial support delivered 
by a membership of over half a million meant 
that we were able to rise to this challenge.

Not only were we able to maintain an 
organisation ready to contest a general 
election, significant funds were also invested 
in new strategies and activities designed to 
boost engagement and activism. In 2018, £1m 
of reserves were allocated to key activities and 
campaigns. Investing now for future elections, 
but at the same time maintaining funds in 
reserve – the General Election Trust Fund – 
ready to kick start our campaign on the day 
that the election is called, whenever it may be.

As highlighted in previous reports, while the 
huge membership is our greatest asset, the 
fact that it now underpins our budgets and 
plans also means that we need to recognise 
the risk that it poses. Investment now, rather 
than retaining all funds for the final campaign 
push, means that the cost base has increased 
significantly. A reduction in the number of 
members above and beyond expected natural 
churn will require a corresponding reduction 
in expenditure. We recognise that, in so many 
ways, our members are critical to our success, 
each and every year.

The robust financial management engendered 
by the NEC’s Finance Strategy will ensure that 
we continue to be ready to react and adapt to 
maintain a stable financial position.
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS  
WITHIN THE PARTY
COMMERCIAL AND FUNDRAISING

The Commercial Development team are 
responsible for the marketing and delivery of 
income generating products across Annual 
Conference and Regional Conferences 
including fringe events, exhibition, advertising 
and accreditation. 

At Annual Conference our exhibition was full 
with 160 stands representing the third sector, 
leading business, unions and NGOs. Demand 
for exhibition space was high and it spanned 
two of the Conference venues, the ECL and 
the ACC in Liverpool. As always it provided 
an interesting and informative experience for 
visitors and received much positive feedback 
from delegates. Features included the Small 
Business Zone and interactive stands such 
as the Guide Dogs obstacle course. As ever 
the promotional items proved to be hugely 
popular.

The Exhibitors Reception was well attended 
with John McDonnell thanking all our exhibitors 
for their invaluable contribution, sharing ideas, 
information, best practice and services to our 
visitors. 

We left Liverpool with bookings secured for 
30% of the exhibition space at Brighton 2019, 
a very positive start.

Over 550 fringe events took place with lots of 
first time clients representing a wide range 
of sectors. There was an increase in the 
number of organisations running programmes 
of multiple events throughout conference, 
including SME4Labour, Heathrow, Dods and 
Unite the Union.

Attendance increased in each of the 
stakeholder categories, and the Conference 
Programme was very well received with the 
post event surveys supplying considerable 
positive feedback. Members were enthused 
and energised by the expansion in policy 
discussions as well as the new look training 
hub. Commercial and third sectors visitors 

commented on the increased levels  
of engagement provided by the sector  
specific events.

The team supported the successful delivery of 
Scottish Conference, Welsh Conference and 
several Regional Conferences. We are working 
with colleagues on product development as 
well as onsite support and pre event planning.

Fundraising 

The Fundraising team launched a new four 
year strategy in 2018 with a focus on building 
relationships with new donors from across the 
whole of the UK. 

With the support of an external agency and 
following a period of consultation with former, 
current and prospective members, a new 
proposition for our mid-level fundraising 
programme was launched in December 
2018. Labour’s Rose Network aims to 
engage supporters across the UK with a 
new programme of events, as well as the 
opportunity to have meaningful discussions 
on policy, ideas and the big issues facing the 
country. 

We also recruited a Major Donor fundraiser 
to focus on identifying support for key 
organisational priorities and programmes, 
including the Community Organising unit. This 
new resource is already proving successful, 
generating funds for key initiatives outside of 
the general election period. An example and 
highlight of 2018 was the team’s fundraising 
success in establishing the party’s Defending 
Democracy Fund. 

We would like to thank all of our supporters 
for their generosity in 2018, and for the kind 
support from Emily Thornberry MP, Baroness 
Shami Chakrabarti and to all those who have 
assisted our Fundraising efforts throughout 
the year. 
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS WITHIN THE PARTY
EVENTS, BUSINESS ENGAGEMENT  
AND ENDORSEMENTS, VISITS

In the 2018 financial year, reportable 
donations (excluding government grants), with 
a value of more than £7,500 to the central 
party organisation totalled £6.3 million, despite 
the year having none of the major political 
events usually associated with increased 
donation revenue.

We secured a number of major sponsorship 
packages in 2018, generating commercial 
income of £181,500 for the party. This included 
£33,000 from USDAW for their sponsorship 
of conference lanyards, passes and stewards 
t-shirts; a Bloomberg conference package 
with an overall value of £50,000; £20,000 from 
Intuit for sponsorship of the Business Forum 
Lunch and the Small Business Summit and 
conference packages worth £15,000 each from 
ACCA, and TSB and a package worth £20,000 
from ICAEW.
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS WITHIN THE PARTY
TREASURERS’ REPORT

We are pleased to present the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 
2018, which show a year of consolidation and 
election readiness.

The party has been able to continue to allocate 
increased resources to campaigning activities 
and seats whilst maintaining reserves set aside 
for a future general election. The removal 
of the Tories’ outright majority in 2017 and 
uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations 
created an opportunity to positively target 
spending in a non-election year as well as  
the financial challenge of remaining on an 
election footing.

Income totalled £46m (including donations 
of just under £6m) despite the year having 
none of the major political events which lead 
to this level of revenue. There was increased 
income from membership and because 
of gains in the General Election, also from 
increased government grants. In line with 
previous experience, there was a net fall in 
the number of members over the course of 
the year, but there were still over half a million 
members at the end of 2018. Our expenditure 
in the year was £3m greater than 2017 if you 
exclude expenditure on that year’s General 
Election campaign. This was mainly spent on 
staff and activities to support campaigning 
and engagement – investment now for future 
elections.

Even after the planned use of reserves to fund 
campaign expenditure in the year, we continue 
to hold funds for a future general election –  
“a general election trust fund”. We also 
continue to be free of external debt. It should 
be noted that the loans reported in these 
statements represent amounts held on behalf 
of CLPs with corresponding cash deposits 
shown as assets.

We continue to adhere to the NEC’s Finance 
Strategy which, we are proud to report, 
continues to maintain financial stability despite 

possible future challenges, not least from the 
impact of the Trade Union Act.

We would like to thank our members, 
supporters, affiliated trade unions and socialist 
societies for their support. Also to thank all 
activists, staff and elected representatives for 
their hard work and commitment. We would 
like to record our gratitude to all donors for all 
of their financial support through the year.

Finally we look forward to the investment 
made this year and in future periods bringing 
success in elections so we can deliver “for the 
many not the few”.

Jennie Formby 
Registered 
Treasurer

Diana Holland 
Party Treasurer
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ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

Review of Political Activities

A detailed review of the party’s political activities during the period covered by the financial 
statements will be included in the National Executive Committee (NEC)’s Annual Report that will 
be submitted to the 2019 Annual Conference for its agreement. The NEC’s Annual Report will be 
available from September 2019.

Committees 
The NEC is the governing body of the Labour Party that oversees the overall direction of the party 
and the policy-making process. It carries out this role by setting strategic objectives on an annual 
basis and meeting regularly to review the work of the party in these areas.

All members of the NEC are members of the National Policy Forum.  This body oversees the 
development of party policy. It meets throughout the year in full session and through policy 
commissions presents a report to Annual Conference.

The NEC also has a number of specialist committees and is responsible for upholding the rules of 
the party and propriety of Labour selection processes.  Details of the principal specialist committees 
of the NEC are as follows:

Committee	 Responsibilities

Business Board	� Oversight of the business functions of the organisation including the 
management of finances.

Joint Policy Committee	 The JPC is responsible for strategic oversight of the party’s policy  
(JPC) 		�  development. It oversees the rolling programme, and acts as a steering 

group for the National Policy Forum (NPF).  Jointly convened by the 
Leader and NEC Co-convenor, it is a joint committee made up of 
members of the NEC, Shadow Cabinet and NPF.

Equalities Committee	� The Committee advises the NEC on steps to increase the party’s 
membership and representation on elected bodies so as better 
to reflect the community in terms of gender, ethnicity, age, sexual 
orientation and disability and to assist and promote the party’s work in 
combating discrimination in all forms.

Organisation Committee	� Responsible for party rules and constitution; ensures the party is 
operating effectively throughout the country to the highest standards; 
and has overall responsibility for membership, investigations, 
selections, local government, conferences, electoral law, boundaries 
strategy and internal elections.

Disputes Panel	� Hears membership appeals and re-admission applications; considers 
party disputes and conciliation; undertakes minor investigations and 
local government appeals where referred to the NEC; and conducts 
hearings and interviews around the country where necessary.

Audit and	 Responsibility for the party’s risk register and policies to mitigate risks. 
Risk Management
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Elected representatives

The party’s elected representatives at the Westminster, Scottish and European Parliaments and the 
National Assembly for Wales can be found on the party’s websites at: 

www.labour.org.uk/people  

www.scottishlabour.org.uk/people

www.eurolabour.org.uk/your-meps 

www.welshlabour.wales/people_pobl

or in the Appendices at the end of this document.

Membership

As at 31 December 2018 the total individual membership of the party was 518,659 (2017: 564,443).

Accounting units

As at 31 December 2018 the party had 669 (2017: 669) accounting units registered with the  
Electoral Commission.
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STATEMENT OF REGISTERED TREASURER’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Registered Treasurer of the party is 
required by the Political Parties, Elections and 
Referendums Act 2000 to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the party and of its surplus or deficit for that 
period. In preparing those financial statements, 
the Registered Treasurer is required to:

•	�Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

•	�Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•	�State whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and

•	�Prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the party will continue in 
business.

The Registered Treasurer is responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any  
time the financial position of the party at that 
time and to enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Act.  
They also have delegated responsibility from 
the National Executive Committee for ensuring 
that appropriate controls are established for 
safeguarding the assets of the party and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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STABILITY AND PROGRESS WITHIN THE PARTY
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF THE LABOUR PARTY

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements 
of the Labour Party for the year ended 
31 December 2018 which comprise the 
consolidated income and expenditure account, 
the statements of comprehensive income and 
changes in equity, the consolidated balance 
sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

•	�give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Labour Party’s affairs as at 31 December 
2018 and of the deficit for the year then 
ended;

•	�have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice;

•	�have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Political Parties, Elections 
and Referendums Act 2000. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Labour Party in 
accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that  

the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a  
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the  
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

•	�the Registered Treasurer’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

•	�the Registered Treasurer has not disclosed 
in the financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Labour Party’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information 
The Registered Treasurer is responsible for 
the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
Treasurer’s Report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF THE LABOUR PARTY

we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Registered Treasurer 
As explained more fully in the statement of 
Registered Treasurer’s responsibilities set 
out on page 54, the Registered Treasurer 
is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Registered Treasurer is responsible for 
assessing the Labour Party’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Registered Treasurer either intends 
to liquidate the Labour Party or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Labour Party’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 43 of the Political Parties, Elections and 
Referendums Act 2000. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Labour Party’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Labour 
Party and the Labour Party’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Crowe U.K. LLP 
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of 
Crowe U.K. LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London 
Date
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017

Notes

£'000 £'000

Income
Donations                                                                                                                                  5,801 18,263

Membership 16,930 16,165

Affiliations 6,241 6,203

Fundraising 4 397 244

Commercial income 4,077 4,227

Legacies 45 129

Interest receivable 25 14

Government grants 5 8,452 7,427

Notional income 6 426 347

Other income 3,201 2,726

Investment income 7 72 48

Total income 45,667 55,793

Expenditure
Costs of fundraising (148) (123)

Costs of commercial activity (3,666) (3,215)

Notional expenditure 6 (426) (347)

Running costs 8 (36,544) (32,950)

Campaign expenditure 9 - (11,012)

Interest payable 10 (144) (153)

Grants and payments to CLPs (3,006) (3,248)

Other 12 (2,388) (3,294)

Total expenditure (46,322) (54,342)

(Deficit)/surplus from party activities before taxation 13 (655) 1,451

Taxation 14 - -

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (655) 1,451
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
AND CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2018

Statement of comprehensive income

Notes 2018 2017

£'000 £'000

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (655) 1,451
Net investment (loss) / gain (161) 33
Asset (losses)/gains arising during the year (5,837) 2,473
Liability gains/(losses) arising during the year 22 7,066 (1,595)
Total comprehensive income for the year 413 2,362

Statement of changes in equity

General Revaluation reserve Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2017 24,562 555 25,117
Surplus for the year 1,451 - 1,451
Disposal of properties - - -
Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain on the pension scheme 878 - 878

Net Investment gain 33 - 33

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 26,924 555 27,479

Deficit for the year (655) - (655)
Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain on the pension scheme 1,229 - 1,229
Revaluation - (288) (288)
Net investment (loss) (161) - (161)

At 31 December 2018 27,337 267 27,604

The Notes on pages 61 to 73 form part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 
31 DECEMBER 2018

Notes 2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 15 6,342 5,808
Investments 16 2,102 5,037

8,444 10,845
Current assets
Debtors and prepayments 17 3,800 3,561
Cash at bank and in hand 20,799 18,267

24,599 21,828
Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year
Creditors, accruals and deferred income 18 (10,481) (10,128)
Development fund loans 25 (9,784) (9,056)
Overdrafts and short term loans - -

(20,265) (19,184)

Net current assets 4,334 2,644

Total assets less current liabilities 12,778 13,489

Creditors: amounts falling due after 
more than one year

- -

Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (160) (160)

Net assets 12,618 13,329

Pension asset 22 (14,986) (14,150)
Reserves
General 20 27,337 26,924
Revaluation reserve 20 267 555

12,618 13,329

The financial statements on pages 57 to 73 were approved by the National Executive Committee 
on 2 July 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Jennie Formby						      Diana Holland				  
General Secretary and Registered Treasurer 		 Party Treasurer	 	
The Notes on pages 61 to 73 form part of these financial statements.	
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities
(Deficit)/surplus before tax (655) 1,451
Adjustments for:
Finance costs - 15
Depreciation and impairment charges / (gains) 64 -
Profit on disposal of property (321) -
Actuarial gains in pension scheme 393 741

(519) 2,207
Movements in working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables (239) (88)
Increase in trade and other payables 353 824
Increase / (decrease) in provisions for liabilities  
and charges

- 160

Cash generated from operations (405) 3,103

Interest paid - (15)
Net cash generated by operating activities (405) 3,088

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property 2,774 -
Payments for fixed assets (565) (4,940)
Net cash used in investing activities 2,209 (4,940)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of loans - -
Proceeds from new loans - -
Net cash used in  financing activities - -

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,804 (1,852)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 9,211 11,063
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11,015 9,211

Cash and bank balances 20,799 18,267
Development fund loans (9,784) (9,056)
Bank overdrafts - -

11,015 9,211
The Notes on pages 61 to 73 form part of these financial statements.	
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

The Labour Party is a political party registered 
with the Electoral Commission. The address of 
its registered office is disclosed on page 1.

The financial statements are presented in 
sterling, which is also the functional currency of 
the party.

1.	 Accounting policies   
The financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of historical cost as modified by 
the revaluation of land and buildings, and 
are in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards in the United Kingdom. The financial 
statements reflect the principles contained in 
the Statement of Accounts Guidance Notes 
issued by the Electoral Commission and in 
existence as at 5 May 2008.

The party’s accounting policies are set out 
below. These have been applied consistently.

The following principal accounting policies 
have been applied:

a.	 Income recognition 
		�  Income, which excludes value added tax, 

is recognised when all of the following 
conditions have been met:

	 – The party is entitled to the asset; 
	 – �There is reasonable certainty that the asset 

will be received; and
	 – �The value of the asset can be measured 

with reasonable certainty.

Applying these criteria to specific types of 
income results in the following treatment:
	 – �Donations, including legacies, are 

recognised in the income and expenditure 
account on receipt.  Donations of notional 
income are recognised on receipt at the 
relevant market value of the donation 
received with an expense of the same 
amount being recognised at the same time.

	 – �Membership fees are recognised in the 
income and expenditure account when 
received.

	 – �Government grants are recognised in the 
year in which the related expenditure is 
incurred (see note 5).

All other income including affiliation fees is 
recognised on an accruals basis. 

b.	 Tangible fixed assets 
Property assets comprise both freehold and 
leasehold land and buildings held as functional 
property or long-term investments by Labour 
Party Properties Limited.  

Functional property is carried at fair value. 
This is based on the most recent professional 
valuation (which is carried out at least every 
five years) or, if recently acquired, at cost, 
subject to an annual impairment review 
(carried out by the directors of Labour Party 
Properties Limited with the assistance of an 
expert third party who is retained throughout 
the year).  In addition, if the annual impairment 
reviews identify instances where the carrying 
value is materially different from the fair 
value then a full valuation will be conducted. 
Given the maintenance of the properties and 
the length of their estimated useful lives, or 
lease term no depreciation is charged as it 
is considered to be immaterial. The National 
Executive Committee (NEC) considers that 
this accounting policy results in the financial 
statements giving a true and fair view.  

Investment properties are measured at fair 
value annually by the directors of Labour Party 
Properties Limited with the assistance of an 
expert third party with any change recognised 
in the consolidated income and expenditure 
account.

Long leasehold improvement assets are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over the 
period of the lease.

Expenditure on other tangible assets is only 
considered for capitalisation if it amounts to 
£10,000 or more and its useful economic life 
can be reasonably estimated at the year end.
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c.		 Value added tax 
The party is registered for value added 
tax (VAT) purposes, but it is only liable on 
chargeable transactions.  All items of income 
and expenditure are shown in the financial 
statements net of VAT.  A partial exemption 
formula has been agreed with HM Revenue 
and Customs and VAT has been recovered.   
The value of VAT that is irrecoverable is 
included in “Other expenditure” (see note 12).

d.	 Pension costs 
The Labour Party is responsible for the 
solvency of the Labour Party Superannuation 
Society, which is a defined benefit pension 
scheme (see note 22).  Pension scheme 
assets are measured using market values. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation 
was measured using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method.

Any pension scheme surplus (to the extent 
it is considered recoverable) or deficit is 
recognised in full and presented on the 
face of the balance sheet. The movement in 
the scheme surplus/deficit is split between 
operating charges, financing items and, in the 
statement of changes in equity, actuarial gains 
and losses.  

e.		 Accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
about future conditions.  This is especially 
important in the setting of bad and doubtful 
debt provisions.  The NEC believes that it has 
examined all reasonably available information 
in assessing the recoverability of debtors and 
set the provision prudently.

f.		 Operating leases 
Rentals payable and receivable under 
operating leases are charged or credited to the 
income and expenditure account on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the leases.

g.	 Investments 
Investments in non-quoted shares are 
normally valued at cost less provision for 
impairment.

Where investments are donated to the party 
the potential fair value is considered and if 
a reliable fair value can be determined the 
investment is recognised at its deemed cost, 
i.e. the fair value at the date of donation. If a 
sufficiently reliable fair value is not available for 
donated assets no cost is recognised.

Quoted investments are measured at market 
value and are revalued each year, with gains/
losses being recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and changes in equity.

h.	 Key judgements and estimates 
In the application of the party’s accounting 
policies, which are described in note 1, the NEC 
are required to make judgements, estimates, 
assumptions about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects the current and future periods.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty 
that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements are 
described in the accounting policies and are 
summarised below:

•	Pension liabilities – The party recognises its 
asset or liability in respect of its defined benefit 
pension scheme which involves a number of 
estimations as disclosed in Note 22.
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•	Valuation of investment properties– The 
party’s investment properties are stated 
at their estimated fair value based on 
professional valuations as disclosed in Note 15.

•	Dilapidation provision – The party has 
provided for its possible liability in relation 
to its leasehold property which has been 
estimated as disclosed in Note 19.

i.		 Financial instruments 
The Labour Party has financial assets and 
financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as 
basic financial instruments. Basic financial 
instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Financial assets held at amortised 
cost comprise cash at bank and in hand, 
together with trade and other debtors. 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost 
comprise bank loans and overdrafts, trade and 
other creditors.

Investment properties are held at fair value 
at the Balance Sheet date, with gains and 
losses being recognised within income and 
expenditure. Investments in subsidiary 
undertakings are held at cost less impairment.

At the balance sheet date the party held 
financial assets at amortised cost of 
£22,597,000 (2017: £19,755,000) and Financial 
liabilities at amortised cost of £20,265,000 
(2017: £19,191,000). The party held financial 
assets at fair value through the income and 
expenditure accounts of £2,102,000 (2017: 
£5,037,000).

2. Basis of preparation

The Labour Party is constituted under 
section 26 of the Political Parties, Elections 
and Referendums Act 2000 as a central 
organisation with accounting units.  The 
consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the results of the Labour Party central 
organisation, its subsidiary undertaking Labour 
Party Properties Limited, the Scottish Labour 

Party and the Wales Labour Party. The Scottish 
Labour Party is a separate accounting unit 
registered with the Electoral Commission and 
as such is required to file its own financial 
statements with the Electoral Commission, 
but as its management is integrated with that 
of the Labour Party’s central organisation it is 
considered appropriate to reflect its results 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements do not 
include the results of other accounting units 
registered with the Electoral Commission 
except where Head Office undertakes 
accounting on behalf of certain accounting 
units or bears costs relating to accounting 
units, which are not then subsequently 
recharged to the accounting unit.

The income and expenditure account includes 
the consolidated results of the regional offices 
of the Labour Party, the Scottish Labour Party 
and the Wales Labour Party which contributed 
a surplus of £10,000 (2017: surplus of £40,000) 
to the result for the year.  The consolidated 
results of the regional offices are produced 
from accounts that are prepared mainly on a 
cash accounting basis rather than an accruals 
basis. It is not considered that restatement 
of the results on to an accruals basis for the 
current and prior years would have a material 
impact on the result for the year.

The financial projections of the party indicate 
that the funding to be generated across all 
income streams will provide sufficient means 
for the party to achieve its organisational and 
political objectives as well as service its debt 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the 
financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Campaign expenditure in the consolidated 
statement of income and expenditure (£nil 
in 2018, £11,012,000 in 2017) represents the 
party’s expenditure in national elections, as 
defined by the Political Parties, Elections and 
Referendums Act 2000 and reported to the 
Electoral Commission.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. Basis of taxation
The party is treated as an unincorporated 
association for tax purposes and is therefore 
liable to corporation tax on its investment 
income.  It also bears tax on any investment 
transactions that give rise to capital gains 

The taxation of each of the subsidiary 
companies under the control of the NEC is 
dealt with separately and a corporation tax 
liability arises on any adjusted income and 
expenditures as returned to HM Revenue  
and Customs. 

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

This comprises:
Goods 1 66
Services 24 88
Seconded staff 401 193

426 347

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Dividends Received 72 48

72 48

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Dinners 178 92
Other events 219 152

397 244

4. Fundraising activities

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Short money 7,986 6,670
Policy Development 
Grant

466 757

8,452  7,427

5. Government grants

6. Notional income and expenditure

7. Investment Income

The Electoral Commission provides a 
Policy Development Grant for expenditure 
incurred in developing policies for inclusion 
in the party’s manifestos for elections to the 
Westminster, Scottish, European Parliament, 
and the Welsh Assembly and for local 
government elections in England, Scotland and 
Wales. Similar grants were payable to all the 
major political parties.

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Staff related 
expenditure (see Note 
11)

23,875 21,138

Building and premises 2,831 3,537
Depreciation and 
amortisation

64 -

Political activities and 
publishing 

4,688 2,482

Administration 1,939 2,023
Finance, IT and 
telecommunication 
costs

3,147 3,770

36,544 32,950

8. Running costs

9. Campaign expenditure

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

UK General election - 11,012
- 11,012
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The number of staff employed by the party 
during the year comprises:

The above figures include both head office and 
regional staff.  The figures also include various 
persons employed on short-term contracts.  

Key management personnel of the party are 
members of the senior management and the 
total employment benefits of that group was 
£571,000 (2017: £584,000).

10. Interest payable

11. Employees

2018 2016
£'000 £'000

Development fund 
loans

144 153

144 153

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Staff related 
expenditure 
comprises:
Wages and salaries 18,461 16,171
Social security costs 2,037 1,709
Other pension costs 3,078 3,070
Other costs 299 188

23,875 21,138

Full time Part time Total
At 31 
December 
2018

385 56 441

At 31 December 
2017

333 56 389

At 31 December 
2016

289 54 343

Average for 
2018

379 59 438

Average for 
2017

333 62 395

Irrecoverable VAT is included within Other 
Expenditure in the Income & Expenditure 
Account.

12. Irrecoverable VAT 

13. �Surplus from party activities before 
taxation

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Irrecoverable VAT 
expensed in the year

1,642 2,681

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

This has been arrived 
at after crediting / 
(charging):

Property rentals 
receivable

146 115 

Auditors’ remuneration 
   - audit services (65) (67)
   - non-audit services (18) (15)
Westminster 
Foundation for 
Democracy:

() 

Project funding 
recognised during  
the year

(795) (758)

Project expenditure 
supported by funding

795 758

Operating lease charge
   - property (1,034) (1080)
   - equipment (220) (168)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The difference between the actual and expected current tax charge is 
explained below:

If all of the property assets were sold at their balance sheet values it 
is estimated that any tax liability would be extinguished by available 
indexation allowances and tax losses brought forward.

A deferred tax liability of £14,000 (2017: £21,000 asset) has not been 
recognised. This arises primarily from timing differences between the net 
book value of assets qualifying for capital allowances and their tax written 
down value.

At 31 December 2018 Labour Party Properties Ltd had approximately 
£54,000 of losses carried forward (2017: £242,000). 

14. Taxation

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Current taxation
UK Corporation Tax - -

Tax on surplus on party activities - -

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

(Deficit)/surplus from party activities
before taxation (655) 1,451
Tax on (loss)profit at 19% (2017: 19.25% ) (124) 279
Effects of:
Difference between non-taxable income and non-
deductible expenses

159 (246)

Movement in deferred tax not provided (35) (33)
- -
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Freehold  
investment 
properties

Other freehold  
& leasehold 

properties

Office 
equipment

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2018 3,104 2,704 - 5,808
Additions 482 - 404 886
Revaluation (32) (256) - (288)

At 31 December 2018 3,554 2,448 404 6,406

Depreciation
At 1 January 2018 - - - -
Charge for year - - (64) (64)
At 31 December 2018 - - (64) (64)
Net book value at  
31 December 2018 3,554 2,448 340 6,342

Net book value at  
31 December 2017 3,104 2,704 - 5,808 

15. Tangible assets

Included in other freehold and leasehold properties are short leasehold properties totalling £21,000. 
The historic cost for all properties is £5,414,000 (2017: £5,253,000).  The most recent professional 
open market valuations were carried out as at 15 May 2019 by Jones Shackel Oldham Chartered 
Surveyors.  Properties are subject to an annual impairment review in accordance with note 1b.

16. �Investments 
Other fixed asset investments

17. Debtors and prepayments

Listed & fund 
investments

2018 2017

£'000 £'000
At 1 January 2018 5,037 204
(Withdrawals) / 
additions

(2,774) 4,800

Fair value adjustment (161) 33

At 31December 2018 2,102 5,037

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Trade debtors 1,120 1,060
Prepayments 2,002 2,073
Accrued income 247 101
Other debtors 431 327

3,800 3,561

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Trade creditors 1,357 1,449
Taxation and  
social security

1,089 874

Other creditors 4,915 4,334
Accruals 3,120 3,471

10,481 10,128 

18. �Creditors, accruals  
and deferred income

19. �Provisions for liabilities and charges

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Dilapidations 160 160

20. Reserves

 General  Revaluation reserve Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2018 26,924 555 27,479
Surplus for the 
year

(655) - (655)

Net investment 
(loss)

(161) (161)

Revaluation - (288) (288)
Actuarial gain 1,229 - 1,229
At 31 December 
2018 27,337 267 27,604

The revaluation reserve comprises both the revaluation gains recognised 
on functional properties and the fair value gains on investment 
properties.
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21. Subsidiary companies

The following are the subsidiary companies controlled by the NEC of the party during 2018:		

\

All trading activities of all the party’s subsidiaries are located, and their income generated, entirely in 
the United Kingdom.

The statutory financial statements of each of the above companies are produced separately to these 
financial statements.

22. Pension fund

Introduction
The party sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifying UK employees, the Labour 
Party Superannuation Society. The Society is a multi-employer scheme and the party is responsible 
for the majority of the Society liabilities. Notwithstanding the above, the disclosures below are in 
respect of the whole Society.

The level of benefits provided by the Society depends on a member’s length of service and their 
salary at their date of leaving the Society.

Funding requirements
UK legislation requires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The last funding valuation  
of the Society was carried out by a qualified actuary as at 31 December 2017 and showed a surplus  
of £8.2M.

Part of the above surplus has been used to enable the party to continue to pay contributions 
of 21.4% of pensionable salaries in respect of current accrual, with active members paying a 
further 6.0% of pensionable salaries. The rate paid by the party is expected to increase to 29% of 
pensionable salaries with effect from 1 January 2020.

Reporting at 31 December 2018
The results of the draft funding valuation at 31 December 2017 have been adjusted to the new 
balance sheet date, taking account of experience over the period since 31 December 2017, changes 
in market conditions, and differences in financial and demographic assumptions. The present value 
of the Defined Benefit Obligation, and the related current service cost, were measured using the 
projected unit credit method.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Name Nature of business Country of incorporation Proportion of  
voting rights held

Labour Party 
Properties Limited

Property management 
and investment 

England and Wales 100%

Labour Party 
Nominees Limited

Property trustee (non 
trading)

England and Wales 100%
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The principal assumptions used to calculate the liabilities under FRS 102 are set out below:

Main Financial Assumptions
	 2018	 2017
Discount rate for society liabilities	 2.80%	 2.60%
Rate of general long term  increase in salaries	 4.15%	 4.15%
RPI inflation 	 3.15%	 3.15%
CPI inflation	 2.15%	 2.15%
Pension increases pre April 1997	 0.00%	 0.00%
Pension increases April 1997 to April 2005	 2.20%	 2.10%
Pension increases post April 2005	 1.80%	 1.80%

The mortality base tables adopted are103% (2017 104%) of S2PMA tables for males and 109% of 
S2PFA tables for females, with CMI2017 [Sk=7.5] (2017 CMI2014) projections. and a long term rate of 
improvement of 1.5% each year.

Under these assumptions, members aged 60 now are expected to live for a further 26.5 years (2017 
27.3 years) if they are male and a further 28.1 years (2017 29.1 years) if they are female. Members 
currently aged 45 are expected to live for a further 27.9 years (2017 29.0 years) from age 60 if they 
are male and for a further 29.6 years (2017 30.9 years) from age 60 if they are female.

Members are assumed to take 25% of their pension as a tax-free lump sum, using commutation 
factors currently in force.

Asset breakdown as at 31 December 2018
Main asset categories 31 December 2018

£’000
Equities 19,228
Property 1,953
Cash and other assets 2,186
Absolute return asset fund 19,729
Corporate bonds 20,435
Hedging assets 33,151
Total 96,682

Asset breakdown as at 31 December 2017
Main asset categories 31 December 2017

£’000
Equities 18,638
Property 3,380
Cash and other assets 1,706
Absolute return asset fund 15,306
Corporate bonds 24,197
Hedging assets 36,305
Total 99,532

None of the Society assets are invested in the party’s financial instruments  
or in property occupied by, or other assets used by, the party.
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22. Pension fund (continued)

Actual return on Society assets

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Interest income on Society assets 2,596 2,548
(Losses)/gains on Society assets (5,837) 2,473
Actual return on Society assets (3,241) 5,021

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Fair value of Society assets 96,682 99,532
Present value of funded Defined  Benefit 
Obligation

(81,696) (85,382)

Funded status 14,986 14,150
Unrecognised asset - -
Asset recognised on the balance sheet 14,986 14,150

Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation during 
the year

2018 2016
£'000 £’000

Opening defined benefit obligation 85,382 80,206
Current service cost 2,872 2,640

Interest expense on DBO 2,233 2,179                 
Contributions by Society participants  697 639
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities (7,066) 1,595
Net benefits paid out (2,422) (2,258)
Past service cost - 381 
Closing defined benefit obligation 81,696 85,382
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22. Pension fund (continued)

Changes to fair value of the Society assets during the year

2018 2017
£’000 £’000

Opening fair value of  Society assets 99,532 94,219
Interest income on Society assets 2,596 2,548
(Losses)/gains on Society assets (5,837) 2,473
Contributions by the employer 2,486 2,269
Contributions by Society participants 697 639
Net benefits paid out (2,422) (2,258)
Administration costs incurred (370) (358)
Closing fair value of Society assets 96,682 99,532

Amounts recognised in income and expenditure account

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Operating cost: 
Current service cost 2,872 2,640
Administration expenses 370 358
Past service cost - 381
Financing cost:
Interest on net defined benefit liability/(asset) (363) (369)
Expense recognised in income and expenditure 2,879 3,010

23. Lease commitments
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable  
as follows:

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Operating leases payable:
Within one year 1,344 1,632           
In the second to fifth years inclusive 3,555 4,494
In more than five years - -

4,899 6,126

The above operating leases relate to lease rental commitments for leasehold land and buildings, 
equipment and vehicles. Any rent-free periods granted by the lessors have been recognised over the  
total period of the lease.
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24. �Reconciliation of the operating surplus to inflow from 
operating activities

2018 2017
£'000 £'000

Operating surplus for the year before taxation (655) 1,451
Depreciation and impairment charges 64 -
Profit on disposal of property (321) -
Interest payable - 15
Increase in trade and other receivables (239) (88)
Increase in trade and other payables 353 824
Actuarial gain on pension scheme 393 741
Interest paid - (15)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions for liabilities  
and charges - 160

Net cash flow from operating activities (405) 3,088

25 Related party transactions 
The party has entered into the following transactions with its affiliated 
(non-consolidated) accounting units:

£'000
Development fund loans
Loans payable at 1 January 2018 9,056
Additional loans made available                 1,046
Loans repaid (318)
Loans payable at 31 December 2018 9,784

All development fund loans are made available to the party on 
commercial terms. Corresponding sums are held in cash deposits.

The party also provides Constituency Labour Parties, all of which are 
accounting units, with a proportion of the membership revenues which 
are raised centrally.



74 Labour Party Annual Report 2019

NEC Priorities for 2019



 

APPENDICES

Appendices

75Labour Party Annual Report 2019



76 Labour Party Annual Report 2019

Appendices

APPENDICES  
MEMBERS OF SHADOW CABINET 
AND OPPOSITION FRONTBENCH* 

LEADER 

Rt Hon Jeremy Corbyn MP 
PPS: Kate Hollern MP

BUSINESS, ENERGY AND  
INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY

Rebecca Long-Bailey MP  
Bill Esterson MP (also International Trade) 
Chi Onwurah MP  
Alan Whitehead MP 
Gill Furniss MP  
Laura Pidcock MP  
Danielle Rowley MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Baroness (Dianne) Hayter of Kentish Town 
Lord (John) Grantchester (Energy)

CABINET OFFICE 

Jon Trickett MP  
Cat Smith MP  
Chris Matheson MP 
Jo Platt MP 
PPS: Emma Dent-Coad MP

House of Lords  
Rt Hon Baroness (Angela) Smith of Basildon 
Baroness (Dianne) Hayter of Kentish Town

COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT

Andrew Gwynne MP  
Jim McMahon MP  
Roberta Blackman-Woods MP 
Stephen Morgan MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Roy) Kennedy of Southwark 
Lord (Jeremy) Beecham

HOUSING

John Healey MP  
Sarah Jones MP  
Alex Cunningham MP  
PPS: James Frith MP 

House of Lords 
Lord (Roy) Kennedy of Southwark 
Lord (Jeremy) Beecham

DEFENCE 

Nia Griffith MP  
Fabian Hamilton MP (Joint with FCO) 
Wayne David MP  
Gerald Jones MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Denis) Tunnicliffe

DIGITAL, CULTURE, MEDIA AND SPORT 

Tom Watson MP  
Kevin Brennan MP  
Rosena Allin-Khan MP  
Liam Byrne MP  
Vicky Foxcroft MP  
PPS: Hollie Lynch MP

House of Lords 
Lord (Leslie) Griffiths of Burry Port

EDUCATION

Angela Rayner MP  
Gordon Marsden MP  
Mike Kane MP  
Tracy Brabin MP  
Steve Reed MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Mike) Watson of Invergowrie 
Rt Hon Lord (Steve) Bassam of Brighton

*Correct at time of printing
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ENVIRONMENT, FOOD  
AND RURAL AFFAIRS 

Sue Hayman MP  
David Drew MP  
Luke Pollard MP  
Sandy Martin MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Baroness (Maggie) Jones of Whitchurch 
Lord (John) Grantchester

EXITING THE EU

Keir Starmer MP  
Jenny Chapman MP  
Paul Blomfield MP  
Matthew Pennycook MP  
PPS: Emma Hardy MP

House of Lords 
Vacancy 

FOREIGN AND COMMONWEALTH OFFICE

Emily Thornberry MP  
Fabian Hamilton MP (Joint with Defence) 
Liz McInnes MP  
Khalid Mahmood MP  
Helen Goodman MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Ray) Collins of Highbury

HEALTH 

Jonathan Ashworth MP  
Barbara Keeley MP  
Sharon Hodgson MP  
Julie Cooper MP 
Paula Sherriff MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Baroness (Glenys) Thornton 
Baroness (Margaret) Wheeler

HOME OFFICE 

Diane Abbott MP  
Nick Thomas-Symonds MP (also Law Office)  
Louise Haigh MP  
Afzal Khan MP  
Karen Lee MP 
PPS: Eleanor Smith MP

House of Lords 
Lord (Richard) Rosser 
Lord (Roy) Kennedy of Southwark

INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Dan Carden MP 
Preet Gill MP 
Alex Norris MP 
PPS: Vacancy 

House of Lords 
Lord (Ray) Collins of Highbury

INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Barry Gardiner MP (also BEIS)  
Bill Esterson MP (also BEIS) 
Judith Cummins MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Wilf) Stevenson of Balmacara
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TRANSPORT 

Andy McDonald MP  
Rachael Maskell MP  
Karl Turner MP  
Matt Rodda MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Richard) Rosser

TREASURY

John McDonnell MP  
Peter Dowd MP  
Jonathan Reynolds MP  
Anneliese Dodds MP  
Lyn Brown MP 
Clive Lewis MP 
PPS: Thelma Walker MP

House of Lords 
Rt Hon Lord (Bryan) Davies of Oldham 
Lord (Denis) Tunnicliffe 
Lord (Neil) Davidson of Glen Clova

WALES

Christina Rees MP  
Chris Ruane MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Lord (Leslie) Griffiths of Burry Port

WOMEN AND EQUALITIES

Dawn Butler MP 
Carolyn Harris MP 
Naz Shah MP  
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Baroness (Anita) Gale

JUSTICE 

Richard Burgon MP  
Yasmin Qureshi MP  
Imran Hussain MP  
PPS: Lloyd Russell-Moyle MP

House of Lords 
Lord (Jeremy) Beecham

LAW OFFICERS 

Baroness Shami Chakrabarti  
Nick Thomas-Symonds MP (also Home Office) 

House of Lords 
Baroness (Shami) Chakrabarti Shadow 
Attorney General 
Lord (Neil) Davidson of Glen Clova QC  
(Shadow Advocate General for Scotland)

LEADER OF THE HOUSE OF COMMONS 

Valerie Vaz MP  
Karin Smyth MP (also Northern Ireland)

NORTHERN IRELAND

Tony Lloyd MP  
Stephen Pound MP  
Karin Smyth MP (also Leader of the House of 
Commons) 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Rt Hon Baroness (Angela) Smith of Basildon

SCOTLAND 

Lesley Laird MP  
Paul Sweeney MP  
PPS: Vacancy 

Appendices

APPENDICES  
MEMBERS OF SHADOW CABINET 
AND OPPOSITION FRONTBENCH* 

*Correct at time of printing
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HOUSE OF LORDS LEADERSHIP TEAM  
& WHIPS

Shadow Leader of the House of Lords 
Rt Hon Baroness (Angela) Smith of Basildon

Shadow Deputy Leader of the House  
of Lords 
Baroness (Dianne) Hayter of Kentish Town

Constitutional Issues 
Rt Hon Baroness (Angela) Smith of Basildon 
Baroness (Dianne) Hayter of Kentish Town

Chief Whip 
Rt Hon Lord (Tommy) McAvoy

Deputy Chief Whips 
Lord (Denis) Tunnicliffe 
Baroness (Margaret) Wheeler

Senior Whips 
Baroness (Maeve) Sherlock 
Lord (Roy) Kennedy of Southwark

Whips 
Lord (Ray) Collins of Highbury 
Lord (Wilf) Stevenson of Balmacara 
Lord (Chris) Lennie 
Lord (Leslie) Griffiths of Burry Port 
Lord (Iain) McNicol of West Kilbride

WORK & PENSIONS

Margaret Greenwood MP 
Jack Dromey MP  
Marsha De Cordova MP 
Mike Amesbury MP 
PPS: Vacancy

House of Lords 
Baroness (Maeve) Sherlock 
Lord (Bill) McKenzie of Luton

ATTENDING SHADOW CABINET

John Cryer MP -  
Chair of the Parliamentary Labour Party 
Ian Lavery MP -  
Co-National Campaign Coordinator  
& Party Chair

HOUSE OF COMMONS WHIPS

Chief Whip  
Rt Hon Nick Brown MP 

Whips 
Rt Hon Alan Campbell MP (Deputy) 
Mark Tami MP (Pairing Whip) 
Jessica Morden MP 
Jeff Smith MP 
Thangam Debbonaire MP 
Nick Smith MP 
Chris Elmore MP 
Nic Dakin MP 
Colleen Fletcher MP  
Bambos Charalambous MP 
Liz Twist MP 
Matt Western MP

Appendices

APPENDICES  
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AND OPPOSITION FRONTBENCH*
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APPENDICES  
PARLIAMENTARY LABOUR PARTY

Diane Abbott Hackney North and Stoke Newington 
Debbie Abrahams Oldham East and Saddleworth
Rushanara Ali Bethnal Green and Bow 
Rosena Allin-Khan Tooting
Mike Amesbury Weaver Vale
Antonia Antoniazzi Gower
Jon Ashworth Leicester South
Adrian Bailey West Bromwich West 
Kevin Barron Rother Valley
Margaret Beckett Derby South 
Hilary Benn Leeds central
Clive Betts Sheffield South East 
Roberta Blackman-Woods City of Durham 
Paul Blomfield Sheffield Central 
Tracy Brabin Batley and Spen
Ben Bradshaw Exeter
Kevin Brennan Cardiff West 
Lyn Brown West Ham
Nick Brown Newcastle Upon Tyne East 
Chris Bryant Rhondda 
Karen Buck Westminster North
Richard Burden Birmingham, Northfield
Richard Burgon Leeds East
Dawn Butler Brent Central
Liam Byrne Birmingham, Hodge Hill 
Ruth Cadbury Brentford and Isleworth
Alan Campbell Tynemouth 
Ronnie Campbell Blyth Valley
Dan Carden Liverpool, Walton 
Sarah Champion Rotherham
Jenny Chapman Darlington 
Bambos Charalambous Enfield, Southgate
Ann Clwyd Cynon Valley 
Vernon Coaker Gedling 
Julie Cooper Burnley
Rosie Cooper West Lancashire 
Yvette Cooper Normanton, Pontefract and Castleford 
Jeremy Corbyn Islington North 
Neil Coyle Bermondsey and Old Southwark
David Crausby Bolton North East 
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Mary Creagh Wakefield
Stella Creasy Walthamstow
Jon Cruddas Dagenham 
John Cryer Leyton and Wanstead 
Judith Cummins Bradford South
Alex Cunningham Stockton North 
Jim Cunningham Coventry South 
Janey Daby Lewishm East
Nic Dakin Scunthorpe 
Wayne David Caerphilly 
Geraint Davies Swansea West 
Marsha De Cordova Battersea
Gloria De Piero Ashfield 
Thangam Debbonaire Bristol West
Emma Dent Coad Kensington
Tanmanjeet Dhesi Slough
Anneliese Dodds Oxford East
Stephen Doughty Cardiff South and Penarth
Peter Dowd Bootle 
David Drew Stroud
Jack Dromey Birmingham, Erdington 
Rosie Duffield Canterbury
Maria Eagle Garston and Halewood 
Angela Eagle Wallasey 
Clive Efford Eltham 
Julie Elliott Sunderland Central 
Louise Ellman Liverpool, Riverside 
Chris Elmore Ogmore
Bill Esterson Sefton Central 
Chris Evans Islwyn 
Paul Farrelly Newcastle-Under-Lyme 
Jim Fitzpatrick Poplar and Limehouse 
Colleen Fletcher Coventry North East
Caroline Flint Don Valley 
Lisa Forbes Peterborough 
Yvonne Fovargue Makerfield 
Vicky Foxcroft Lewisham, Deptford 
James Frith Bury North
Gill Furniss Sheffield Brightside & Hillsborough
Hugh Gaffney Coatbridge Chryston & Bellshill
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Barry Gardiner Brent North
Ruth George High Peak
Preet Gill Birmingham, Edgbaston 
Mary Glindon North Tyneside 
Roger Godsiff Birmingham, Hall Green 
Helen Goodman Bishop Auckland 
Kate Green Stretford and Urmston 
Margaret Greenwood Wirral West
Lilian Greenwood Nottingham South 
Nia Griffith Llanelli
John Grogan Keighley
Andrew Gwynne Denton and Reddish
Louise Haigh Sheffield, Heeley 
Fabian Hamilton Leeds North East 
David Hanson Delyn
Emma Hardy Hull West and Hessle
Harriet Harman Camberwell and Peckham 
Carolyn Harris Swansea East 
Helen Hayes Dulwich & West Norwood
Sue Hayman Workington 
John Healey Wentworth and Dearne 
Mark Hendrick Preston
Stephen Hepburn Jarrow 
Mike Hill Hartlepool 
Meg Hillier Hackney South and Shoreditch 
Margaret Hodge Barking 
Sharon Hodgson Washington and Sunderland West
Kate Hoey Vauxhall 
Kate Hollern Blackburn 
George Howarth Knowsley 
Lindsay Hoyle Chorley 
Rupa Huq Ealing Central and Acton
Imran Hussain Bradford East
Dan Jarvis Barnsley Central
Diana Johnson Hull North
Sarah Jones Croydon Central
Darren Jones Bristol North West
Gerald Jones Merthyr Tydfil and Rhymney 
Helen Jones Warrington North 
Susan Elan Jones Clwyd South 
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Graham Jones Hyndburn 
Kevan Jones North Durham 
Ruth Jones Newport West
Mike Kane Wythenshawe and Sale East
Barbara Keeley Worsley and Eccles South
Liz Kendall Leicester West 
Afzal Khan Manchester Gorton
Gerard Killen Rutherglen & Hamilton West
Stephen Kinnock Aberavon 
Peter Kyle Hove
Lesley Laird Kirkcaldy & Cowdenbeath
David Lammy Tottenham 
Ian Lavery Wansbeck 
Karen Lee Lincoln
Emma Lewell-Buck South Shields
Clive Lewis Norwich South
Tony Lloyd Rochdale
Rebecca Long Bailey Salford and Eccles 
Ian Lucas Wrexham 
Holly Lynch Halifax 
Justin Madders Ellesmere Port and Neeston
Shabana Mahmood Birmingham, Ladywood 
Khalid Mahmood Birmingham, Perry Barr
Seema Malhotra Feltham and Heston
John Mann Bassetlaw
Gordon Marsden Blackpool South 
Sandy Martin Ipswich
Rachael Maskell York Central
Chris Matheson City of Chester
Stephen McCabe Birmingham, Selly Oak 
Kerry McCarthy Bristol East 
Siobhain McDonagh Mitcham and Morden 
Andy McDonald Middlesbrough
John McDonnell Hayes and Harlington 
Pat McFadden Wolverhampton South East 
Conor McGinn St Helens North 
Alison McGovern Wirral South 
Liz McInnes Heywood and Middleton 
Catherine McKinnell Newcastle Upon Tyne North
Jim McMahon Oldham West and Royton
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Anna McMorrin Cardiff North
Ian Mearns Gateshead 
Ed Miliband Doncaster North 
Madeleine Moon Bridgend
Jessica Morden Newport East 
Stephen Morgan Portsmouth South
Grahame Morris Easington 
Ian Murray Edinburgh South 
Lisa Nandy Wigan 
Alex Norris Nottingham North
Melanie Onn Great Grimsby 
Chi Onwurah Newcastle Upon Tyne Central 
Kate Osamor Edmonton 
Albert Owen Ynys Mon 
Stephanie Peacock Barnsley East
Teresa Pearce Erith and Thamesmead 
Matthew Pennycook Greenwich and Woolwich 
Toby Perkins Chesterfield CLP
Jess Phillips Birmingham Yardley
Bridget Phillipson Houghton and Sunderland South 
Laura Pidcock North West Durham 
Joanne Platt Leigh 
Luke Pollard Plymouth, Sutton & Devonport
Stephen Pound Ealing North 
Lucy Powell Manchester Central
Yasmin Qureshi Bolton South East 
Faisal Rashid Warrington South
Angela Rayner Ashton-Under-Lyne
Steve Reed Croydon North
Christina Rees Neath 
Eleanor Reeves Lewisham West & Penge
Rachel Reeves Leeds West 
Jonathan Reynolds Stalybridge and Hyde 
Emma Reynolds Wolverhampton North East 
Marie Rimmer St Helens South and Whiston 
Geoffrey Robinson Coventry North West 
Matt Rodda Reading East
Danielle Rowley Midlothian
Chris Ruane Vale of Clwyd
Lloyd Russell-Moyle Brighton, Kemptown



85Labour Party Annual Report 2019

Appendices

APPENDICES  
PARLIAMENTARY LABOUR PARTY

Naz Shah Bradford West
Virendra Sharma Ealing, Southall 
Barry Sheerman Huddersfield 
Paula Sherriff Dewsbury
Tulip Siddiq Hampstead and Kilburn 
Dennis Skinner Bolsover 
Andrew Slaughter Hammersmith
Ruth Smeeth Stoke-on-trent North
Laura Smith Crewe & Nantwich
Eleanor Smith Wolverhampton South West
Cat Smith Lancaster and Fleetwood
Jeff Smith Manchester Withington
Nick Smith Blaenau Gwent 
Owen Smith Pontypridd 
Karin Smyth Bristol South 
Gareth Snell Stoke-on-Trent Central
Alex Sobel Leeds North West
John Spellar Warley 
Keir Starmer Holborn and St Pancras 
Jo Stevens Cardiff Central
Wes Streeting Ilford North
Graham Stringer Blackley and Broughton 
Paul Sweeney Glasgow North East
Mark Tami Alyn and Deeside 
Gareth Thomas Harrow West 
Nick Thomas-Symonds Torfaen 
Emily Thornberry Islington South and Finsbury 
Stephen Timms East Ham 
Jon Trickett Hemsworth
Anna Turley Redcar
Karl Turner Kingston Upon Hull East 
Stephen Twigg Liverpool, West Derby 
Derek Twigg Halton
Liz Twist Blaydon
Valerie Vaz Walsall South 
Keith Vaz Leicester East 
Thelma Walker Colne Valley
Tom Watson West Bromwich East 
Catherine West Hornsey and Wood Green
Matthew Western Warwick & Leamington
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Alan Whitehead Southampton Test
Martin Whitfield East Lothian
Paul Williams Stockton South
Phil Wilson Sedgefield 
Rosie Winterton Doncaster Central 
Mohammad Yasin Bedford
Daniel Zeichner Cambridge
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Jackie Baillie Dumbarton
Claire Baker Mid Scotland and Fife
Claudia Beamish South Scotland
Neil Bibby West Scotland
Sarah Boyack Lothian
Mary Fee West Scotland
Neil Findlay Lothian
Rhoda Grant Highlands and Islands
Iain Gray East Lothian
Mark Griffin Central Scotland
Daniel Johnson Edinburgh Southern
James Kelly Glasgow
Johann Lamont Glasgow
Monica Lennon Central Scotland
Richard Leonard Central Scotland
Lewis Macdonald North East Scotland
Jenny Marra North East Scotland
Pauline McNeill Glasgow
Alex Rowley Mid Scotland and Fife
Anas Sarwar Glasgow
Elaine Smith Central Scotland
Colin Smyth South Scotland
David Stewart Highlands and Islands
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Mick Antoniw AM Pontypridd
Hannah Blythyn AM Delyn
Dawn Bowden AM Merthyr Tydfil and Rhymney
Jayne Bryant AM Newport West
Hefin David AM Caerphilly
Alun Davies AM Blaenau Gwent
Mark Drakeford AM Cardiff West
Rebecca Evans AM Gower
Vaughan Gething AM Cardiff South and Penarth
John Griffiths AM Newport East
Lesley Griffiths AM Wrexham
Mike Hedges AM Swansea East
Vikki Howells AM Cynon Valley
Jane Hutt AM Vale of Glamorgan
Huw Irranca-Davies AM Ogmore
Julie James AM Swansea West
Ann Jones AM Vale of Clwyd
Carwyn Jones AM Bridgend
Jeremy Miles AM Neath
Eluned Morgan AM Mid and West Wales
Julie Morgan AM Cardiff North
Lynne Neagle AM Torfaen
Rhianon Passmore AM Islwyn
Jenny Rathbone AM Cardiff Central
David Rees AM Aberavon
Jack Sargeant AM Alyn and Deeside
Ken Skates AM Clwyd South
Lee Waters AM Llanelli
Joyce Watson AM Mid and West Wales
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Jude Kirton-Darling North East
Theresa Griffin North West
Julie Ward North West
Richard Corbett Yorkshire & Humber
Jackie Jones Wales
Neena Gill West Midlands
Rory Palmer East Midlands
John Howarth South East
Claude Moraes London
Seb Dance London
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Marvin Rees Bristol City Council
Roselyn Christine Jones Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
Sadiq Khan Greater London Authority
Andy Burnham Greater Manchester 
Philip Glanville Hackney London Borough
Peter Soulsby Leicester City Council
Damien Egan Lewisham London Borough
Joseph Anderson Liverpool City Council
Andrew Abrahams Mansfield District Council
Steve Philip Rotheram Liverpool City Region
Rokhsana Fiaz OBE Newham London Borough
Jamie Driscoll North of Tyne
Norma Redfearn North Tyneside Council
Paul Dennett Salford City Council
Dan Jarvis Sheffield City Region
John Robert Biggs Tower Hamlets London Borough
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Jennette Arnold Hackney, Islington and Waltham Forest
Leonie Cooper Merton and Wandsworth
Tom Copley London wide
Umnesh Desai Barking & Dagenham, City of London, Newham, Tower Hamlets
Andrew Dismore Barnet & Camden
Len Duvall Greenwich and Lewisham
Florence Eshalomi Lambeth and Southwark
Nicky Gavron Londonwide
Joanne McCartney Enfield and Haringey
Dr Onkar Sahota Ealing and Hillingdon
Navin Shan Brent and Harrow
Fiona Twycross Londonwide
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Alison Evison Aberdeenshire Council
Les Alden Adur District Council
Alan Smith Allerdale District Council
Christopher Emmas-Williams Amber Valley Borough Council
Lauren Mitchell Ashfield District Council
Brendan Chilton Ashford District Council
Robin Stuchbury Aylesbury Vale District Council
Alison Owens Babergh District Council
Darren Rodwell Barking & Dagenham London Borough
Barry Rawlings Barnet London Borough
Stephen Houghton Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council
Margaret-Ann Thomson Barrow and Furness Borough Council
Gavin Callaghan Basildon District Council
Paul Harvey Basingstoke and Deane District Council
Simon Greaves Bassetlaw District Council
Robin Moss Bath & North East Somerset Council
Sue Oliver Bedford Borough Council
Daniel Francis Bexley London Borough
Ian Ward Birmingham City Council
Samantha Maxwell Blaby District Council
Mohammed Khan Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council
Simon Blackburn Blackpool Council
Stephen Fritchley Bolsover District Council
Linda Thomas Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council
George Farquhar Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
Mary Temperton Bracknell Forest Borough Council
Susan Hinchcliffe Bradford Metropolitan District Council
David Mann Braintree District Council
Terry Jermy Breckland District Council
Muhammed Butt Brent London Borough
Gareth Barrett Brentwood District Council
Huw David Bridgend County Borough Council
Nancy Platts Brighton & Hove City Council
Marvin Rees Bristol City Council
Angela Wilkins Bromley London Borough
Michael Thompson Bromsgrove District Council
Neil Harvey Broxbourne District Council
Milan Radulovic Broxtowe District Council
Mark Townsend Burnley District Council
David Jones Bury Metropolitan Borough Council
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David Poole Caerphilly County Borough Council
Tim Swift Calderdale Council
Lewis Herbert Cambridge City Council
Georgia Gould Camden London Borough
George Adamson Cannock Chase District Council
Alan Baldock Canterbury District Council
Huw Thomas Cardiff Council
Colin Glover Carlisle District Council
Rob James Carmarthenshire County Council
Robert Harris Ceredigion County Council
Tony Swain Central Bedfordshire Council
Jewel Miah Charnwood District Council
Sean Woodcock Cherwell District Council
Sam Corcoran Cheshire East Council
Louise Gittins Cheshire West and Chester Council
Tricia Gilby Chesterfield District Council
Alistair Bradley Chorley Borough Council
Daniel Myers City of York Council
Dave Clark Clackmannanshire Council
Tina Bourne Colchester Borough Council
Chris Hughes Conwy County Borough Council
Raymond Gill Copeland Borough Council
Thomas Beattie Corby Borough Council
Robert Barnes Cornwall Council
George Duggins Coventry City Council
Peter Lamb Crawley Borough Council
Tony Newman Croydon London Borough
Stewart Young Cumbria County Council
Stephen Harker Darlington Borough Council
Sacha Gosine Dartford District Council
Wendy Randall Daventry District Council
Joan Butterfield Denbighshire County Council
Lisa Eldret Derby City Council
Anne Western Derbyshire County Council
Michael Ratcliffe Derbyshire Dales District Council
Roselyn Jones Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
Kevin Mills Dover District Council
Qadar Zada Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Kevin Keenan Dundee City Council
Simon Henig Durham County Council
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Julian Bell Ealing London Borough
Anthony Howard East Lindsey District Council
William Innes East Lothian Council
John Farrar East Northamptonshire District Council
Paul O'Kane East Renfrewshire Council
Michael Fitzpatrick East Staffordshire Borough Council
Trevor Webb East Sussex County Council
Cameron Day Edinburgh City Council
Nesil Caliskan Enfield London Borough
Denise Mellors Erewash Borough Council
Ivan Henderson Essex County Council
Philip Bialyk Exeter City Council
David Ross Fife Council
Ian Roberts Flintshire County Council
Diana Martin Forest of Dean District Council
Martin Gannon Gateshead Council
John Clarke Gedling District Council
Frank McAveety Glasgow City Council
Kevin Stephens Gloucester City Council
Lesley Williams Gloucestershire County Council
June Cully Gosport District Council
John Burden Gravesham District Council
Trevor Wainwright Great Yarmouth District Council
Len Duvall Greater London Authority
Danny Thorpe Greenwich London Borough
Angela Gunning Guildford District Council
Philip Glanville Hackney London Borough
Rob Polhill Halton Borough Council
Stephen Cowan Hammersmith and Fulham London Borough
Michael Westbrook Hampshire County Council
Joseph Ejiofor Haringey London Borough
Mark Ingall Harlow District Council
Graham Henson Harrow London Borough
Patrick Brown Hartlepool Borough Council
Peter Chowney Hastings Borough Council
Terry Hart Havant District Council
Keith Darvill Havering London Borough
Judi Billing Hertfordshire County Council
Richard Butler Hertsmere District Council
Anthony McKeown High Peak District Council
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James Gray Highland Council
Peter Curling Hillingdon London Borough
Matthew Lay Hinckley and Bosworth District Council
Stephen Curran Hounslow London Borough
Steve Brady Hull City Council
Patrick Kadewere Huntingdonshire District Council
Miles Parkinson Hyndburn District Council
Stephen McCabe Inverclyde Council
David Ellesmere Ipswich Borough Council
John Roberts Isle of Anglesey County Council
Richard Watts Islington London Borough
Pat Mason Kensington and Chelsea London Borough
Dara Farrell Kent County Council
Michael Scrimshaw Kettering Borough Council
John Collop Kings Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council
Shabir Pandor Kirklees Metropolitan Council
Graham Morgan Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council
Jack Hopkins Lambeth London Borough
Azhar Ali Lancashire County Council
Erica Lewis Lancaster City Council
Judith Blake Leeds City Council
Peter Soulsby Leicester City Council
Terri Eynon Leicestershire County Council
Damien Egan Lewisham London Borough
Steven Norman Lichfield District Council
Richard Metcalfe Lincoln City Council
Robert Parker Lincolnshire County Council
Joseph Anderson Liverpool City Council
Hazel Simmons Luton Borough Council
Paul Harper Maidstone District Council
Richard Leese Manchester City Council
Andrew Abrahams Mansfield District Council
Vince Maple Medway Council
Christopher Barry Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Stephen Alambritis Merton London Borough
Derek Milligan Midlothian Council
Matthew Storey Middlesbrough Council
Peter Marland Milton Keynes Council
Dimitri Batrouni Monmouthshire Council
John Divers Moray Council
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Robert Jones Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council
Paul Peacock Newark and Sherwood District Council
Nick Forbes Newcastle upon Tyne City Council
Tony Kearon Newcastle-Under-Lyme Borough Council
Rokhsana Fiaz OBE Newham London Borough
Deborah Wilcox Newport City Council
Nigel Barker North East Derbyshire District Council
David Watson North East Lincolnshire Council
Martin Stears-Handscomb North Hertfordshire District Council
Leonard Foster North Lincolnshire Council
Catherine Gibbons North Somerset Council
Norma Redfearn North Tyneside Council
Adam Farrell North Warwickshire District Council
Sean Sheahan North West Leicestershire District Council
Eric Broadbent North Yorkshire County Council
Danielle Stone Northampton Borough Council
Robert Scott Northamptonshire County Council
Susan Dungworth Northumberland County Council
Alan Waters Norwich City Council
David Mellen Nottingham City Council
Alan Rhodes Nottinghamshire County Council
Julie Jackson Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
Sean Fielding Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council
Susan Brown Oxford City Council
Liz Brighouse Oxfordshire County Council
Paul Miller Pembrokeshire County Council
Mohammed Iqbal Pendle Borough Council
Shahzad Nawaz Peterborough City Council
Tudor Evans Plymouth City Council
Stephen Morgan Portsmouth City Council
Matthew Dorrance Powys County Council
Matthew Brown Preston City Council
Jason Brock Reading Borough Council
Jasbir Athwal Redbridge London Borough
Carl Quartermain Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council
Edward Devine Renfrewshire Council
Andrew Morgan Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council
Allen Brett Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council
Alyson Barnes Rossendale Borough Council
Christine Bayliss Rother District Council
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Christopher Read Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council
Arran Neathey Runnymede Borough Council
Benjamin Gray Rushcliffe District Council
Keith Dibble Rushmoor Borough Council
Paul Dennett Salford City Council
Yvonne Davies Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Stephen Siddons Scarborough District Council
Brian Smedley Sedgemoor District Council
Ian Maher Sefton Council
Robert Packham Selby District Council
Mike Hogg Sevenoaks District Council
Julie Dore Sheffield City Council
Alan Mosley Shropshire Council
James Swindlehurst Slough Borough Council
Leigh Redman Somerset County Council
Brian McGinley South Ayrshire Council
Nigel Cathcart South Cambridgeshire District Council
Kevin Richards South Derbyshire District Council
Patricia Rooney South Gloucestershire Council
Charmaine Morgan South Kesteven District Council
John Wilson South Lakeland District Council
David McLachlan South Lanarkshire Council
Paul Foster South Ribble District Council
Leslie Ashley South Staffordshire District Council
Iain Malcolm South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council
Christopher Hammond Southampton City Council
Ian Gilbert Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Peter John Southwark London Borough
Malachy Pakenham St Albans District Council
David Baines St. Helens Council
Aidan Godfrey Stafford District Council
Susan Woodward Staffordshire County Council
Mike Gledhill Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Sharon Taylor Stevenage Borough Council
Daniel Gibson Stirling Council
Elise Wilson Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council
Robert Cook Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council
Mohammed Pervez Stoke-on-Trent City Council
Jason Fojtik Stratford-On-Avon District Council
Doina Cornell Stroud District Council
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Mike Deacon Suffolk Coastal District Council
Sarah Adams Suffolk County Council
Graeme Miller Sunderland City Council
Robert Evans Surrey County Council
Rodney Bates Surrey Heath District Council
Roger Truelove Swale Borough Council
Robert Stewart Swansea City and County Council
James Grant Swindon Borough Council
Brenda Warrington Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council
Simon Peaple Tamworth District Council
Libby Lisgo Somerset West and Taunton Council
Shaun Davies Telford & Wrekin Council
Rick Everitt Thanet District Council
Steve Cox Three Rivers District Council
John Kent Thurrock Council
Anthony Hunt Torfaen County Borough Council
David Brenton Torridge District Council
John Biggs Tower Hamlets London Borough
Andrew Western Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council
Dianne Hill Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Neil Moore Vale of Glamorgan Council
Peter Box Wakefield Council
Sean Coughlan Walsall Council
Clare Coghill Waltham Forest London Borough
Simon Hogg Wandsworth London Borough
Russ Bowden Warrington Borough Council
Jerry Weber Warwick District Council
Richard Chattaway Warwickshire County Council
Nigel Bell Watford District Council
Andrew Scarborough Wellingborough Borough Council
Kieran Thorpe Welwyn Hatfield District Council
Martin Rooney West Dunbartonshire Council
Ian Moran West Lancashire District Council
Lawrence Fitzpatrick West Lothian Council
Duncan Enright West Oxfordshire District Council
Sue Mullins West Sussex County Council
Adam Hug Westminster London Borough
David Molyneux Wigan Council
Ricky Rogers Wiltshire Council
Pat Hackett Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council
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Mohammed Raja Woking District Council
Andy Croy Wokingham Borough Council
Ian Brookfield Wolverhampton City Council
Adrian Gregson Worcester City Council
Robin Lunn Worcestershire County Council
Rebecca Cooper Worthing District Council
Rafiq Raja Wycombe District Council
Lorraine Beavers Wyre District Council
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Bns (Irene) Adams of Craigielea 
Rt Hon L (Andrew) Adonis
L (Charles) Allen of Kensington
L (Waheed) Alli
Rt Hon Bns (Valerie) Amos
Rt Hon L (Donald) Anderson of Swansea
Bns (Kay) Andrews
Rt Hon Bns (Hilary) Armstrong of Hill Top
L (Willy) Bach
Bns (Joan) Bakewell
Rt Hon L (Steve) Bassam
L (Jeremy) Beecham
L (Tony) Berkeley 
Bns (Angela) Billingham
Rt Hon Bns (Tessa) Blackstone*
Rt Hon L (David) Blunkett
Rt Hon L (Paul) Boateng
Rt Hon L (Keith) Bradley 
L (Melvyn) Bragg
L (Daniel) Brennan QC
L (Clive) Brooke of Alverthorpe
L (Keith) Brookman
Rt Hon L (Des) Browne of Ladyton
Bns (Pauline) Bryan
L (Dale) Campbell-Savours
L (Patrick) Carter of Coles
Bns (Shami) Chakrabarti
V (Tom) Chandos 
L (Tony) Christopher
Rt Hon L (David) Clark of Windermere
L (Tony) Clarke of Hampstead 
Bns (Janet) Cohen of Pimlico
L (Ray) Collins of Highbury
Rt Hon Bns (Jean) Corston
Bns (Christine) Crawley
Rt Hon L (Jack) Cunningham of Felling
Rt Hon L (Alistair) Darling
Rt Hon L (Ara) Darzi of Denham
L (Neil) Davidson of Glen Clova QC
Rt Hon L (Bryan) Davies of Oldham

L (Quentin) Davies of Stamford
L (Meghnad) Desai
Bns (Rita) Donaghy
L (Bernard) Donoughue
Bns (Jeannie) Drake
Rt Hon L (Paul) Drayson
L (Alf) Dubs
L (Murray) Elder
L (David) Evans of Watford
Rt Hon L (Charlie) Falconer of Thoroton QC
L (Richard) Faulkner of Worcester
L (Geoff) Filkin
Rt Hon L (George) Foulkes of Cumnock
Bns (Anita) Gale
L (Anthony) Giddens
L (Maurice) Glasman
Bns (Llin) Golding
Rt Hon (Peter) Goldsmith QC
L (Jimmy) Gordon of Strathblane
Bns (Mary) Goudie
Bns (Joyce) Gould of Potternewton
L (John) Grantchester
L (Leslie) Griffiths of Burry Port
Rt Hon L (Bruce) Grocott
Rt Hon L (Peter) Hain
V (Stephen) Hanworth
L (Toby) Harris of Haringey
L (Lyndon) Harrison
L (Simon) Haskel
L (Willie) Haughey
L (Alan) Haworth 
B (Dianne) Hayter of Kentish Town
Bns (Anna) Healy of Primrose Hill
Bns (Ruth) Henig
Bns (Jenny) Hilton of Eggardon
L (Clive) Hollick
Rt Hon L (Alan) Howarth of Newport 
L (Doug) Hoyle
Rt Hon Bns (Beverley) Hughes of Stretford
L (Bob) Hughes of Woodside
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L (Julian) Hunt of Chesterton
Rt Hon L (Philip) Hunt of Kings Heath
Rt Hon L (John) Hutton of Furness
Rt Hon L (Derry) Irvine of Lairg QC
Rt Hon Bns (Margaret) Jay of Paddington
Rt Hon L (Barry) Jones
Bns (Maggie) Jones of Whitchurch
L (Bill) Jordan 
L (Frank) Judd
Bns (Alicia) Kennedy of Cradley
Bns (Helena) Kennedy of The Shaws QC
L (Roy) Kennedy of Southwark
L (Jonathan) Kestenbaum
Bns (Glenys) Kinnock
Rt Hon L (Neil) Kinnock
Bns (Denise) Kingsmill 
Rt Hon L (Jim) Knight of Weymouth
Bns (Doreen) Lawrence of Clarendon
L (Richard) Layard
L (David) Lea of Crondall
L (Sandy) Leitch
L (Chris) Lennie
L (Michael) Levy
Rt Hon Bns (Helen) Liddell of Coatdyke
L (Roger) Liddle
Bns (Ruth) Lister of Burtersett
L (Spencer) Livermore
L (Hector) MacKenzie of Culkein
Bns (Ann) Mallalieu QC
Rt Hon L (Peter) Mandelson
Bns (Doreen) Massey of Darwen
L (John) Maxton
Rt Hon L (Tommy) McAvoy
Rt Hon L (Jack) McConnell of Glenscorrodale
Bns (Margaret) McDonagh
Bns (Genista) McIntosh of Hudnall
L (Bill) McKenzie of Luton
L (Iain) McNicol of West Kilbride
L (Jon) Mendelsohn
L (John) Monks

Bns (Eluned) Morgan of Ely
L (Kenneth) Morgan
Bns (Sally) Morgan of Huyton
L (Bill) Morris of Handsworth 
Rt Hon L (John) Morris of Aberavon QC
Rt Hon Bns (Estelle) Morris of Yardley
Rt Hon L (Paul) Murphy of Torfaen
Bns (Sue) Nye
L (Martin) O’Neill of Clackmannan
Bns (Martha) Osamor
L (Bhikhu) Parekh
Rt Hon L (Tom) Pendry
Bns (Jill) Pitkeathley
L (Raymond) Plant of Highfield
L (Fred) Ponsonby of Shulbrede
L (John) Prescott
Rt Hon B (Dawn) Primarolo
Bns (Margaret) Prosser
L (David) Puttnam
Rt Hon Bns (Joyce) Quin
Rt Hon L (Giles) Radice
Bns (Meta) Ramsay of Cartvale
L (Nic) Rea
Bns (Gail) Rebuck
Rt Hon L (John) Reid of Cardowan
Rt Hon L (George) Robertson of Port Ellen
L (Richard) Rogers of Riverside
Rt Hon L (Jeff) Rooker
L (Richard) Rosser
L (Ted) Rowlands
Rt Hon Bns (Jan) Royall of Blaisdon 
L (Tom) Sawyer 
Bns (Maeve) Sherlock
V (Jan) Simon
Rt Hon Bns (Angela) Smith of Basildon
Bns (Elizabeth) Smith of Gilmorehill
L (Peter) Smith of Leigh
L (Peter) Snape
L (Clive) Soley
L (Wilf) Stevenson of Balmacara
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L (Andrew) Stone of Blackheath
Rt Hon Bns (Liz) Symons of Vernham Dean
Rt Hon Bns (Ann) Taylor of Bolton
Bns (Glenys) Thornton
L (John) Tomlinson
L (Don) Touhig
L (David) Triesman
L (Denis) Tunnicliffe
L (Leslie) Turnberg
Bns (Diana) Warwick of Undercliffe
L (Mike) Watson of Invergowrie
L (Dave) Watts
L (Alan) West of Spithead
Bns (Margaret) Wheeler
Bns (Janet) Whitaker
Rt Hon L (Larry) Whitty 
Rt Hon L (Charles) Williams of Elvel
Rt Hon L (Michael) Wills
L (Robert) Winston
L (Stewart) Wood of Anfield
L (Ken) Woolmer of Leeds
L (Tony) Young of Norwood Green
Bns (Barbara) Young of Old Scone

*Sits as Independent Labour

Labour Peers:  
183. Excludes 5 on leave of absence

Rt Hon Bns (Cathy) Ashton of Upholland
Rt Hon L (Ted) Graham of Edmonton
Bns (Oona) King of Bow
L (David) Sainsbury of Turville
Rt Hon Bns (Patricia) Scotland of Asthal QC
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David Keane Cheshire Police Force
Barry Coppinger Cleveland Police Force Area
Hardyal Dhindsa Derbyshire Police Force Area
Ron Hogg Durham Police Force Area
Jeffrey Cuthbert Gwent Police Force
Keith Hunter Humberside Police Force
Clive Grunshaw Lancashire Police Force Area
Willy Bach Leicestershire Police Force
Paddy Tipping Nottinghamshire Police Force Area
Kim McGuinness Northumbria Police Force Area
Alun Michael South Wales Police Force Area
Alan Billings South Yorkshire Police Force Area
David Jamieson West Midlands Police
Mark Burns-Williamson West Yorkshire Police Force Area
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Current Constituency Region Selected
Airdrie & Shotts Scotland Helen McFarlane
Dunfermline & West Fife Scotland Cara Hilton
East Kilbride, Strathaven  
& Lesmahagow

Scotland Monique McAdams

Edinburgh East Scotland Sheila Gilmore
Edinburgh North & Leith Scotland Gordon Munro
Glasgow Central Scotland Faten Hameed
Glasgow East Scotland Kate Watson
Glasgow North West Scotland Patricia Fergurson
Glasgow North Scotland Pam Duncan-Glancy
Glasgow South West Scotland Matt Kerr
Glasgow South Scotland Johann Lamont
Inverclyde Scotland Martin McCluskey
Lanark & Hamilton East Scotland Andrew Hilland
Linlithgow & East Falkirk Scotland Wendy Milne 
Livingston Scotland Rhea Wolfson
Motherwell & Wishaw Scotland Angela Feeney
Na H-Eileanan An Iar Scotland Alison MacCorquodale
Paisley & Renfrewshire North Scotland Alison Taylor
Paisley & Renfrewshire South Scotland Moira Ramage
West Dunbartonshire Scotland Jean Anne Mitchell
Aberconwy Wales Emily Owen
Arfon Wales Mary Griffiths-Clarke
Brecon & Radnorshire Wales Tomos Davies
Carmarthen East & Dinefwr Wales Maria Carroll
Carmarthen West &  
South Pembrokeshire

Wales Marc Tierney

Clwyd West Wales Jo Thomas
Dwyfor Meirionnydd Wales Graham Hogg
Preseli Pembrokeshire Wales Philippa Thompson 
Vale of Glamorgan Wales Belinda Loveluck-Edwards
Broxtowe East Midlands Greg Marshall
Corby East Midlands Beth Miller
Erewash East Midlands Catherine Atkinson

Kettering East Midlands Clare Pavitt
Loughborough East Midlands Stuart Brady
Mansfield East Midlands Sonya Ward
North East Derbyshire East Midlands Chris Peace
Northampton North East Midlands Sally Keeble
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Northampton South East Midlands Gareth Eales
Rushcliffe East Midlands Cheryl Pidgeon
Sherwood East Midlands Jerry Hague
Wellingborough East Midlands Andrea Watts
Chelmsford Eastern Penny Richards
Colchester Eastern Tina McKay
Harlow Eastern Laura McAlpine
Norwich North Eastern Karen Davis
Rochford & Southend East Eastern Ashley Dalton
Stevenage Eastern Jill Borcherds
Thurrock Eastern John Kent
Watford Eastern Chris Ostrowski
Welwyn Hatfield Eastern Rosie Newbigging
Chingford & Woodford Green London Faiza Shaheen
Chipping Barnet London Emma Whysall
Cities of London & Westminster London Steven Saxby
Finchley & Golders Green London Sara Conway
Harrow East London Pamela Fitzpatrick
Hendon London David Pinto-Duschinsky
Putney London Fleur Anderson
Uxbridge & South Ruislip London Ali Milani
Wimbledon London Jackie Schneider
Carlisle North Ruth Alcroft
Copeland North Tony Lywood
Middlesbrough South  
& East Cleveland

North Lauren Dingsdale

Altrincham & Sale West North West Andrew Western
Barrow in Furness North West Chris Altree
Blackpool North & Cleveleys North West Chris Webb
Bolton West North West Julie Hilling
Macclesfield North West Neil Puddick
Morecambe & Lunesdale North West Lizzi Collinge
Pendle North West Azhar Ali
Rossendale & Darwen North West Alyson Barnes
South Ribble North West Kim Snape
Southport North West Liz Savage
Aldershot South East Abby King
Banbury South East Suzette Watson
Basingstoke South East Kerena Marchant
Crawley South East Peter Lamb
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Dover South East Charlotte Cornell
East Worthing & Shoreham South East Lavinia O’Connor
Hastings & Rye South East Peter Chowney
Milton Keynes North South East Charlynne Pullen
Milton Keynes South South East Hannah O'Neill
Reading West South East Rachel Eden
Southampton, Itchen South East Simon Letts
Wycombe South East Khalil Ahmed
Bournemouth East South West Corrie Drew
Bournemouth West South West David Stokes
Camborne & Redruth South West Paul Farmer
Filton & Bradley Stoke South West Mhairi Threlfall
Forest of Dean South West Di Martin
Gloucester South West Fran Boait
Kingswood South West Nicola Bowden-Jones
North East Somerset South West Mark Huband
North Swindon South West Kate Linnegar
Plymouth, Moor View South West Charlotte Holloway
South Swindon South West Sarah Church
St Austell & Newquay South West Felicity Owen
Truro & Falmouth South West Jennifer Forbes
Weston-Super-Mare South West Tim Taylor
Halesowen & Rowley Regis West Midlands Ian Cooper
Nuneaton West Midlands Zoe Mayou
Redditch West Midlands Rebecca Jenkins
Rugby West Midlands Debbie Bannigan
Shrewsbury & Atcham West Midlands Laura Davies
Stafford West Midlands Joyce Still
Stoke-on-Trent South West Midlands Mark McDonald
Stourbridge West Midlands Pete Lowe
Telford West Midlands Katrina Gilman
Walsall North West Midlands Gill Ogilvie
Worcester West Midlands Lynn Denham
Calder Valley Yorkshire & the Humber Josh Fenton-Glynn
Morley & Outwood Yorkshire & the Humber Deanne Ferguson
Pudsey Yorkshire & the Humber Jane Aitchison
Scarborough & Whitby Yorkshire & the Humber Hugo Fearnley
Sheffield, Hallam Yorkshire & the Humber Olivia Blake
Shipley Yorkshire & the Humber Jo Pike
York Outer Yorkshire & the Humber Anna Perrett
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Appeals - upheld: 7 
Appeals - not upheld: 13

Re-admissions following auto exclusion - approved: 16 
Re-admissions following auto exclusion - not approved: 8

Re-admissions following expulsion - approved: 1 
Re-admissions following expulsion - not approved: 0

Re-admissions following resignation/lapse while suspended  
– approved: 4 
Re-admissions following resignation/lapse while suspended  
– not approved: 2

Automatic Exclusions from membership 
10 June 2018 to 10 June 2019

Under Clause 2.I.4.A: 93 
Under Clause 2.I.4.B: 57 
Under Clause 2.I.4.D.iii: 4 
Under Clause 13.II.2.C.i: 2 
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CHARGE 
BROUGHT 
BY

AGAINST RULE VERDICT OF 
PANEL

OUTCOME

NEC Respondent 1 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 2 2.I.8 Proved Administrative Suspension lifted and 

warning given
NEC Respondent 3 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 4 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 5 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension to continue 

until 25.8.20 and formal warning given
NEC Respondent 6 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 7 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension to continue 

until 2.10.19 and formal warning given
NEC Respondent 8 2.I.8 Proved Excluded from membership and unable 

to apply to re-join as new member until 
13.5.20

NEC Respondent 9 2.I.8 Not proved Case dismissed
NEC Respondent 10 2.I.8 Not proved Case dismissed
NEC Respondent 11 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 12 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 13 2.I.8 Two of four 

parts of charge 
proved

Formal warning given

NEC Respondent 14 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 15 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 16 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 17 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 18 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension lifted and 

formal warning given
NEC Respondent 19 2.I.8 Proved Reminder of conduct given
NEC Respondent 20 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 21 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension to continue 

until 21.7.19
NEC Respondent 22 2.I.8 No case to 

answer
Case dismissed

NEC Respondent 23 2.I.8 Not proved Case dismissed
NEC Respondent 24 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension to continue 

until 23.5.20
NEC Respondent 25 2.I.8 Not proved Formal warning given, regarding conduct 

from before membership began that NCC 
saw evidence of.

NEC Respondent 26 2.I.8 Proved Formal warning given



109Labour Party Annual Report 2019

Appendices

APPENDICES  
NCC CASES

NEC Respondent 27 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
NEC Respondent 28 2.I.8 Proved Excluded from membership and unable 

to apply to re-join as new member until 
21.6.20

NEC Respondent 29 2.I.8 Proved Administrative suspension lifted and 
formal warning given

NEC Respondent 30 2.I.8 Proved Expelled
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